
Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1DR 
Tel: 01322 343434 Fax: 01322 343422 Web: www.dartford.gov.uk 

 

 
 

 
 
 

Policy Overview 
Committee 

 
 
 

Councillor M J Davis (Chairman) 
 

Councillor M I Peters (Vice-Chairman) 
 

Councillor E  Ben Moussa 
Councillor S H Brown 
Councillor J Burrell 
Councillor S P Butterfill 
Councillor L A Canham 
Councillor R M Currans 
Councillor B Garden 
 

Councillor K J Grehan 
Councillor R A S Jones 
Councillor D T Nicklen 
Councillor T Oliver 
Councillor Mrs J A Ozog 
Councillor A S Sandhu, MBE 
Councillor Mrs R F Storey 
 
 
 
 

A virtual meeting of the above Committee will be held from 5 p.m. on 

 
Tuesday 16 March 2021 

 
 

 
Strategic Director (Internal Services) 

(8 March 2021)  



 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This page is intentionally left blank 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE  
AGENDA 

 

Tuesday 16 March 2021 
 
 

Viewing this meeting on YouTube 

This meeting may be viewed on YouTube by clicking on, and opening, the link 
below: 
 
https://youtu.be/lagWcg2fL4c 

 

1. Apologies for Absence   

2. Declarations of Interest   

 To receive declarations of interest from Members including the 
terms(s) of any Grants of Dispensation by the Strategic Director 
(Internal Services). 
 

 

3. Confirmation of the minutes of the Policy Overview meeting held 
on 15 December 2020 (Pages 1 - 14) 

 

4. Urgent Items   

 The Chairman will announce his decision as to whether there are any 
urgent items and their position on the agenda. 
 

 

5. To consider references from other Committees (if any)   

6. Regulation 9 Notice (Forward Plan) (Pages 15 - 18)  

 To consider any issues arising from the Regulation 9 Notice (Forward 
Plan) for the period 24 February 2021 to 30 June 2021. 
 

 

7. Update on the impact of the ongoing Coronavirus Pandemic on 
the Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Health System  

 

8. Kent & Medway Clinical Commissioning Group - Update on 
General Practices Estates Plan for Dartford Gravesham and 
Swanley  

 

   

9. Dartford Health Inequalities Action Plan Progress Report 2019-
20 (Pages 19 - 42) 

 

10. Food Security Policy (Pages 43 - 58)  

 
 

https://youtu.be/lagWcg2fL4c


This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 

D A R T F O R D  B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L 
 

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
 

MINUTES of the meeting of the Policy Overview Committee held on Tuesday 15 
December 2020 at 5.00 pm 

 
PRESENT: 
 

Councillor M J Davis (Chairman) 
Councillor Mrs MI Peters (Vice-Chairman) 
Councillor E Ben Moussa 
Councillor S H Brown 
Councillor L A Canham 
Councillor R M Currans 
Councillor E H K Edie  
Councillor B Garden 
Councillor K J Grehan 
Councillor D T Nicklen 
Councillor T Oliver 
Councillor A S Sandhu, MBE 
 

 
ABSENT: 
 

Councillor J Burrell 
Councillor S P Butterfill 
Councillor R A S Jones 
Councillor Mrs J A Ozog 
Councillor Mrs R F Storey 
 

 
CABINET 
MEMBERS  
PRESENT: 

Councillor R J 
Wells 

– Portfolio Holder for Community 
Safety 

 
 
Dartford Borough Council Officers 
 

 Sheri Green – Strategic Director (External 
Services) 

 Mark Salisbury – EARS & CSU Manager 
 Dave Thomas – Waste & Parks Manager 
 Richard Cherry – Enforcement Manager 
 David Hook – Democratic Services Officer 

(Committee Clerk) 
 

69. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
The Chairman welcomed Members to the first full complement virtual meeting 
of the Committee via the Zoom platform, following the initial Government 
lockdown in March 2020 to help combat the effects of the Coronavirus 
pandemic, and thanked those Members who had attended reduced 
compliment virtual POC meetings in the interim, on 16 June and 8 September 
respectively.  
 

Page 1 Agenda Item 3



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
TUESDAY 15 DECEMBER 2020 

 

2 

He welcomed the Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Community Safety to the virtual 
proceedings, and noted the on-line presence of the Strategic Director 
(External Services), and the EARS & CSU, Waste & Parks and Enforcement 
Managers. 
 
The Committee Clerk advised that apologies for absence had been received 
on behalf of Councillors; Burrell, Butterfill, Jones, Ozog and Storey. 
 

70. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

71. CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE POLICY OVERVIEW 
MEETING HELD ON 8 SEPTEMBER 2020  
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That the Minutes of the meeting of the Policy Overview Committee held on 8 
September 2020 be confirmed as an accurate record of those proceedings. 
 

72. URGENT ITEMS  
 
The Chairman confirmed that there were no urgent items for the Committee to 
consider. 
 

73. TO CONSIDER REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES (IF ANY)  
 
The Committee Clerk confirmed there were no references from other 
Committees for POC Members to consider. 
 

74. REGULATION 9 NOTICE  
 
 RESOLVED: 
 

1. That Members note the Regulation 9 Notice [Forward Plan] for the 
period 16 November 2020 to 31 March 2021. 

 
75. ENVIRONMENTAL ENFORCEMENT TEAM UPDATE REPORT  

 
The report from the Enforcement and Regulatory Services (EARS) Manager, 
provided the Committee with an overview of the performance, systems and 
processes of the Council’s Environmental Enforcement Team’s performance 
in respect of combating fly tipping offences. Appendix A to the report provided 
details of and outcomes for investigations undertaken by the Enforcement 
Team during the period April 2018 to October 2020. 
 
The Chairman reminded Members that the Committee had previously 
considered the topic of fly tipping within the context of the annual Litter 
Services update report from the Waste & Parks Manager, last considered by 
the POC  on 28 January 2020 [Agenda Item 8 (para 3.10) and Min. No. 35 
refer]. He asked the EARS Manager to briefly summarise his report for the 

Page 2Agenda Item 3



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
TUESDAY 15 DECEMBER 2020 

 

3 

Committee, before responding to Members questions, and reminded 
Members that the Committee’s remit was to focus on policy, not individual 
aspects of performance. 
 
The EARS Manager informed Members that the Council had invested heavily 
in its discretionary Environmental Enforcement service to combat 
environmental crime, particular fly tipping offences, within the Council’s overall 
environment, enforcement, community safety and parking enforcement 
operation.  The Council had specific officers on staff who, together with LA 
Support (Kingdom) Environmental Enforcement Officers, helped to maintain a 
clean and safe environment for all residents, free from dumped waste, litter 
and dog fouling. 
 
He proposed that the Council’s Environmental Enforcement Team Manager, 
Richard Cherry, who also represented Dartford on the pan-Kent intelligence 
network body tasked with preventing and deterring fly tipping, respond to 
Members’ questions. 
 
The Enforcement Manager advised Members that Dartford was a recognised 
leader within Kent local authorities (and neighbouring London Boroughs), for 
its proactive and effective environmental enforcement operation which, in the 
period under review, had achieved a 42% overall ‘detection rate’ - the best in 
Kent [report para 3.18 to 3.21 and Appendix A refer].  
 
There had been a reduction in pro-active investigations during the initial 
phase of the Council’s response to the COVID-19 pandemic and government 
lockdown [report para 3.11 to refers], but fly tipping hotspots had continued to 
be effectively monitored and measures [not for public disclosure] taken. The 
Council employed 2 (two) enforcement officers, both experienced former 
police officers, who possessed a wealth of background and skills to undertake 
the time-consuming, dirty and often frustrating work of detection and evidence 
gathering at fly tipping ‘hot spots’ to secure evidence to identify, fine or 
prosecute offenders e.g. discarded utility bills etc. An increase in staff was a 
consideration, but not a universal panacea, given the limited amount of 
personnel evidence available to be gathered to identify individual offenders.  
 
He reminded Members that Dartford had been the first local authority in 
England to impose a regime of fixed penalty notices (FPNs) for the offence of 
fly tipping and an enforced ‘duty of care’ offence against residents using 
unlicensed waste disposal operatives, and local authorities remained keen to 
learn from Dartford’s operation, which benefitted from additional support from 
the Council’s Park Ranger Service and the CSU’s CCTV operation. He 
confirmed that Kent Police did not respond to incidents of fly tipping, despite it 
being increasingly viewed as ‘organized crime’, and that the link on the DBC 
website to report offences was monitored by Council officers not Kent Police. 
 
The Chairman thanked the EARS Manager for an excellent report and 
comprehensive Appendix, and the Enforcement Manager for his further 
comments. He was pleased to note the Council’s position in the vanguard of 
Kent authorities who pro-actively combated fly tipping offences, and asked 
what arrangements were in place for the EARS Manager and his staff to liaise 

Page 3 Agenda Item 3



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
TUESDAY 15 DECEMBER 2020 

 

4 

with Cabinet, regarding the Council’s overarching policy and strategy to 
combat fly tipping. 
 
The EARS Manager advised Members that in addition to the pertinent terms 
of reference (ToRs) on the Council website specifically defining the Council’s 
enforcement policy relating to fly tipping, the Enforcement Manager would be 
developing a new holistic enforcement policy document in 2021, for 
consideration and endorsement by Members. The new policy document would 
be linked on the Council website to frequently asked questions (FAQs), 
currently posed by residents. 
 
In response to a variety of subsequent questions from individual Members, 
the EARS, Enforcement and Waste & Parks Managers confirmed the 
following substantive points: 
 

 GDPR required the Council to take an extremely cautious approach to 
the publication of personal details for individual offenders/unlicensed 
carriers convicted by the Courts. However, the EARS Manager would 
liaise with the Council’s Communications Manager to see if successful 
prosecutions could be notified to residents via the Council website in 
general terms. The use of the Council’s Twitter service to update and 
advise residents concerning bogus and unlicensed waste carriers 
operating in the Borough would also be examined; 

 Kent County Council as the responsible Waste Disposal Authority 
(WDA), dictated charges and vehicle sizes at Household Waste 
Recycling Centres not the Council, and had long opposed (pre-COVID 
and lockdown), the use of smaller vans at lower charges, to prevent 
surreptitious use by traders and waste carriers  masquerading as 
residents; 

 The Council had spent some £150K to date clearing fly tipping since a 
spike in the offence following the 1st lockdown, and recognised the 
long-term nature of the problem. In addition, some £1M had been 
spent on street cleaning in the year to date. 

 
The Member for Joydens Wood asked how many cases detailed in Appendix 
A to the report, had not been pursued due to insufficient staff resources, and 
proposed, inter-alia, that more investigating staff were required. 
 
The EARS Manager advised that subtracting the combined number of 
prosecutions and fines achieved, from the total number of investigations 
[listed in the Appendix], would give a partial answer. However, he believed the 
Council were winning the battle to combat fly tipping in Dartford; despite the 
efforts of unscrupulous offenders to hide their identities with face masks and 
false vehicle registration plates; and the Council remained in the vanguard 
amongst Kent authorities actively combating fly tipping. The Government were 
aware of the spike in fly tipping following the 1st lockdown, and he hoped that 
more multi-agency joint operations would be undertaken to combat the 
offence going forward. 
 
In this regard, the Enforcement Manager advised Members that he was 
liaising closely with the newly appointed Enforcement Manager at Gravesham 

Page 4Agenda Item 3



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
TUESDAY 15 DECEMBER 2020 

 

5 

Council over possible joint measures, including intelligence sharing. He also 
clarified for Members that all fly tipping incidents were logged [Appendix A to 
the report refers], but those marked as NFA (no further action), were not 
pursued further, because a positive outcome [fine or prosecution] was 
unlikely, generally because of a lack of evidence. 
 
The Member for Ebbsfleet endorsed the case for joined-up enforcement 
action to combat fly tipping. He acknowledged that fly tipping was cleared in 
his Ward, but he believed that the lack of Council CCTV coverage in Ebbsfleet 
encouraged repeated fly tipping offences, and he proposed that the Council 
consider further capital investment to address the issue. 
 
The EARS Manager encouraged Members to report all incidents of fly tipping, 
especially repeat offences, to the Enforcement Manager [to help build a 
‘hotspot’ picture], and he would pursue matters with his team. He would also 
be able to advise whether covert CCTV was in operation at any given 
location. 
 
The Member for Swanscombe noted that in January 2020 of 95 fly tipping 
offences recorded, positive outcomes had been achieved in only 22 cases. 
She wondered whether greater publicity was required to combat fly tipping 
[‘naming and shaming’ offenders and publicising ‘success’ stories], and 
sought a response from the attending Cabinet Portfolio Holder. 
 
The Enforcement Manager advised Members that monthly data disguised the 
time lag between offences being committed and successful prosecutions 
being recorded in subsequent months.  This was particularly relevant to 
January figures when fly tipping offences traditionally spiked after the festive 
season, but overall, the annual detection rate was 42%. 
 
The Strategic Director (External Services) advised Members that the 
constraints imposed by GDPR had been a significant driver in the Council’s 
formulation of a new comprehensive enforcement policy which, it was hoped, 
would enable the Council to better publicise its ‘success stories’. She also 
advised caution over increased resources: more investigating officers did not 
necessarily equate to more prosecutions and less fly tipping. Evidence left by 
offenders at site was scant and finite, and it was unlikely that an enlarged 
discretionary Council enforcement service would cover its costs. Dartford had 
been the 1st and at one time, sole Kent local authority to institute a 
discretionary enforcement service to combat fly tipping, and remained in the 
vanguard of Kent authorities providing such a service. 
 
The Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Community Safety (attending by invitation), 
endorsed the views of the Strategic Director (External Services) and the 
EARS and Enforcement Managers regarding the Council’s enforcement 
regime to combat fly tipping. He advised Members that fly tipping was a Kent-
wide problem and that the Council had an excellent Enforcement Team in 
place who, together with other CSU colleagues and external partners, used all 
available powers to achieve the highest detection rate for fly tipping in Kent.  
 

Page 5 Agenda Item 3



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
TUESDAY 15 DECEMBER 2020 

 

6 

He agreed that publicising the Team’s achievements was hampered by the 
requirements of GDPR, but the new holistic enforcement policy [due to be 
formulated in 2021], would also help to address the constraints GDPR 
currently imposed. The Council would also seek to expand present 
partnership working where possible, whilst using existing finite resources and 
powers (officer numbers were not the issue), to maintain the Council’s existing 
pre-eminent performance amongst Kent local authorities in successfully 
combating fly tipping. 
 
The Member for Joydens Wood expressed his concern over perceived loop-
holes in the current enforcement policy, in particular, the detrimental impact of 
GDPR, which prevented effective information sharing between the Police and 
the Council regarding licensed vehicles and their owners. He proposed that 
the EARS Manager be tasked with writing a policy paper on the issues for 
presentation to Cabinet and subsequent forwarding to Dartford’s MP to bring 
pressure on the Government to relax rules on the exchange of information 
between government bodies. 
 
The EARS Manager acknowledged the constraints imposed by GDPR e.g. 
preventing Council officers from obtaining ownership details from the Police, 
for vehicles suspected in participating in fly tipping. However, the constraints 
of GDPR were experienced by all Councils and those constraints had been 
upheld at Judicial Review. He was happy to submit a report on the issue if 
instructed and still required, following the formulation of the Council’s new 
GDPR compliant enforcement policy. 
 
The Chairman next raised his concerns over the recycling bank facilities at 
Hawley and New Barn, and proposed that the banks be cordoned-off with 
bollards, to prevent fly tipping [when the banks became full].  
 
The Waste & Parks Manager advised that the recycling bank facilities at 
Hawley and New Barn were voluntary sites for residents, which other Councils 
had withdrawn. Dartford could close its recycling banks, but not the laybys 
where they were situated, which fell under the purview of the Highways 
Authority, and would likely still attract fly tipping, irrespective of the recycling 
banks being closed. The Council had a good recycling service, but voluntary 
recycling banks were also useful, and closing them would penalise residents 
who used them within the rules. 
 
The Chairman thanked the EARS Manager for a comprehensive report and 
Appendix, and the Cabinet Portfolio Holder, Strategic Director (External 
Services) and the Enforcement and Waste & Parks Managers for their input 
and positive responses to Members questions and concerns. 
 
  RESOLVED: 
 

1. That Members note the contents of the report and Appendix A, 
detailing the investigations undertaken and outcomes achieved by the 
Council’s Environmental Enforcement Team to combat and detect fly 
tipping in the Borough for the period April 2018 to October 2020. 

 

Page 6Agenda Item 3



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
TUESDAY 15 DECEMBER 2020 

 

7 

In a change to the published agenda order, in the interests of continuity, the 
Chairman proposed that Members next consider the report from the EARS 
Manager on the Council’s Environmental Litter Enforcement Service, which 
had issued as a supplementary report, in addition to the Waste & Parks 
Manager’s Annual Litter Collection Service report [Agenda Item 8 refers]. 
 

76. ENVIRONMENTAL LITTER ENFORCEMENT SERVICE  
 
The report from the EARS Manager had been issued as a separate and 
supplementary document to the annual Litter Collection Service update report 
from the Waste & Parks Manager [Min. No. 78 refers], and provided Members 
with a specific overview of the Council’s Litter Enforcement Scheme, as 
currently operated by LA Support Limited (previously known as Kingdom).  
 
The EARS Manager advised Members that the Litter Enforcement Scheme 
continued to operate successfully under LA Support Limited who had 
increased their enforcement officer compliment. He reminded Members that 
litter enforcement was a non-statutory service provided by the Council, and 
not provided by all Kent local authorities.  
 
In response to subsequent questions from individual Members, the EARS and 
Enforcement Managers confirmed the following substantive points for the 
Committee: 
 

 Public Drinking & Littering – CSU rather than LA Support officers 
would respond to incidents of public drinking and consequent drink can 
littering, under the provisions of the extant Public Space Protection 
Order. Members should contact the Enforcement Manager Richard 
Cherry with details of their concerns; 

 Trade Waste Agreements (TWA) – LA Supports officers enforced 
these measures with business, and the Council website had been 
updated to this effect. The Council had gone to considerable lengths 
with businesses and retailers to enable them to conform with this long-
standing legal requirement, with plenty of warning and a long lead-in 
time prior to fining or prosecution. Some temporary LA Support officers 
had initially fined businesses retrospectively, if a TWA was found not to 
have been in place for the 2 year period required under the legislation. 
The Council had revised the requirement to a TWA being required to 
be evidenced as being in place on the date of the 1st visit by 
enforcement officers, with a second visit after 17 days to check 
paperwork [not available on the 1st visit], and fining a business if an 
extant TWA had not been put in place; 

 Dog Litter – there was no recognised measure to gauge the level of 
dog fouling: the only acceptable standard was 100% compliance. This 
entailed a re-education of dog owners by the Council and its partners 
to ensure owners cleaned-up after their pets and disposed of dog litter 
in the designated bins, which the Council continued to provide in ever 
increasing numbers; 

 General Litter Levels – The Council continued to support and educate 
businesses and schools, and the Partnership consensus was, that litter 

Page 7 Agenda Item 3



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
TUESDAY 15 DECEMBER 2020 

 

8 

levels in the town centre had fallen as reported by the cleaning teams. 
A TWA with traders had also led to cleaner market days. 

 
The Member for Stone advised the Committer that in her opinion, litter levels 
in her Ward had increased not fallen, and requested details of the litter 
enforcement measures operating outside the town centre.  Periodic deep 
cleans were good, but she perceived a need for better communication with 
residents in Stone and Swanscombe e.g. via the Council’s Twitter facility, 
regarding upcoming ‘Deep Clean’ and other litter initiatives proposed outside 
the town centre. 
 
The EARS Manager advised that all Dartford’s Parishes were covered under 
the Litter Enforcement Scheme on a proportionate basis, together with the 
town centre where the majority of offences occurred. Parish litter ‘hotspots’ 
were targeted on a weekly basis and he encouraged all Members and their 
residents to report any concerns to the Enforcement Manager, if they felt 
specific issues were not being adequately addressed. 
 
The Cabinet Portfolio Holder endorsed the views of the EARS Manager, that 
the Council’s Litter Enforcement Scheme continued to be operated effectively 
by LA Support Services and the Council’s Enforcement Manager and his team 
within the CSU. He advised that the overall success of a litter enforcement 
scheme was difficult to measure, but a key indicator of success endorsed by 
the Leader of the Council and Cabinet, was the low rate of repeat offenders 
being fined in Dartford. On specifics, he endorsed the need to enforce the 
long-standing law for businesses to have effective TWAs in place, to help 
relieve the pressure on public bins in the town centre. He also acknowledged 
the need to maintain an effective operational balance between litter 
enforcement in the town centre (where the majority of observable offences 
were committed), and the Parishes, where offences were less easily observed 
and consequently less fines imposed. He encouraged all Members to 
continue to report their specific concerns to the Enforcement Manager, and 
endorsed the request that the Council website be kept fully updated, to ensure 
Members and residents were aware of current and proposed enforcement 
actions and measures. In conclusion, he advised the Committee that all litter 
enforcement schemes inevitably attracted criticism, but that the Council 
scheme in Dartford was well managed and commended its achievements to 
Members. 
 
The Chairman thanked the EARS Manager for his report and congratulated 
the Enforcement Manager and his Team on their efforts in administering the 
Council’s Litter Enforcement Scheme to date. He noted that the Council had 
been the 1st local authority in Kent to operate a litter enforcement and the 1st 
to impose a £400 fine for the offence, and continued to refine its litter 
enforcement operation with the TWA requirement for businesses.  
 
He looked forward to the Committee having the opportunity to consider the 
Council’s new holistic enforcement policy [Min. No. 75 refers], and asked that 
Cabinet consider the views of POC Members (as recorded in these Minutes) 
in its formulation. He advocated ‘designing-out ‘litter problems rather than 
radical wholesale change, but noted the rapid increase in Dartford’s 

Page 8Agenda Item 3



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
TUESDAY 15 DECEMBER 2020 

 

9 

population and questioned whether current enforcement staffing levels were 
sufficient for the growing needs of the Borough. 
 
  RESOLVED: 
 

1. That Members note the contents of the report; 
 

2. That the views and concerns of the POC [as recorded above] be noted 
by Officers when formulating the Council’s new holistic enforcement 
policy, including the terms of the current litter enforcement scheme, 
prior to presentation to Members.  

 
77. LITTER COLLECTION SERVICE  

 
The report from the Waste & Parks Manager (WPM) provided the Committee 
with an update on the Council’s Litter Collection Service, and advised 
Members that the Council’s street cleaning responsibilities and resources 
remained as stated in the last report to the Committee on 28 January 2020 
[Min. No. 35 refers]. The Government’s 1st Covid-19 lockdown measures had 
created a number of challenges for the Council’s waste collection and street 
cleaning services, mainly due to operational staff needing to frequently self-
isolate, but increased use of agency staff had ensured that the Council had 
met its basic service obligations to residents, and continued to approve 
appropriate requests for new litter and dog bins. 
 
The Chairman again proposed that discussion proceed on the basis that 
Members had read the report and that the WPM respond to any individual 
questions or concerns expressed by Members.  
 
The Ward Member for Swanscombe noted that the demand for 2 additional 
litter pickers [report para 3.4] had been discounted as impractical by Cabinet 
at its meeting on 8 March 2020 [Min. No. 95 refers], given the terms of the 
street cleaning contract with Urbaser. She also expressed her concern over 
the standard of street cleaning in her Ward, with Urbaser being recalled to 
complete works on 3 separate occasions in her Ward. 
 
The WPM advised Members that the Council had spent £1M on routine street 
cleaning services in the period under review. Urbaser teams operated on a 
flexible weekly, fortnightly and monthly basis, but did not clean ‘clean’ streets. 
Urbaser undertook its street cleaning operation using a combination of 
machines, sweepers with handcarts (town centre), and litter pickers in high-viz 
jackets, picks and sacks in the Parishes. Swanscombe was the worst area for 
cleanliness, with the high level of parked cars impacting adversely on the 
ability of Urbaser vehicles to undertake street cleaning operations. Urbaser 
had been up and running and fully staffed by August following the 1st 
Government lockdown, and continued to review its current operations using 
the Council’s ‘White-pace’ project management system. Unfortunately street 
cleaning was not on ‘White-pace’. The contractor and the Council, continued 
to review all aspects of its joint litter collection service in terms of money, 
vehicles and staff resources, to meet the changing demographics of the 
Borough and meet resident demand. 

Page 9 Agenda Item 3



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
TUESDAY 15 DECEMBER 2020 

 

10 

 
The Chairman repeated his theme on the need to ‘design-out’ litter problems, 
and asked if the WPM liaised with the Council’s Planning & Regeneration 
Department over access for street cleaning vehicles, adequate provision of 
litter and dog bins in new developments, and the impact of trees and shrubs 
on street cleaning operations.  
 
The WPM confirmed that access for Urbaser vehicles was discussed with the 
Council’s Planning Department, but that there was no fixed formula for doing 
so. He advised that many new developments remained private and opted out 
of Council cleaning services. Traffic islands had been ‘designed-out’ on some 
highways, to improve access for Urbaser and other cleaning vehicles, but 
trees, shrubs and bushes could not be ‘designed-out’ of existing 
developments. 
In response to a further question from the Chairman regarding enhanced 
street signage at litter hotspots [report para 3.7 refers], the WPM undertook to 
review the topic of litter ‘hotspots’, including the Chairman’s new proposal that 
warnings could be stencilled on pavements at ‘hotspots’ to avoid adding to an 
already cluttered street signage environment in those areas.  
 
The Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Waste & Environment (in attendance as a 
Member of the POC), commended the report to the Committee, endorsed the 
responses the WPM had given to Members’ concerns in Committee, and 
encouraged them to continue to liaise with him in the future. 
 
The Chairman thanked the Waste & Parks Manager for his annual update 
report and positive and constructive responses to Members’ questions and 
concerns. 
 
  RESOLVED: 
 

1. That Members note the contents of the annual update report on the 
Litter Collection Service; 
 

2. That Members receive a further Litter Collection Service annual update 
report in December 2021. 

 
78. THE RECYCLING SERVICE  

 
The report from the Waste & Parks Manager (WPM) provided the Committee 
with an update on the Council’s recycling service and confirmed that in the 
period under review, the Council’s waste and recycling responsibilities and 
resources had remained as last reported to the Committee on 28 January 
2020 [Min. No. 36 refers]. The Recycling Service had suffered a similar impact 
to its operation following the 1st Government lockdown as experienced by the 
Litter Collection Service [Min. No. 77 refers], but crucially, had not been 
suspended, as had been the case in some other Kent local authority areas. 
 
The Chairman again proposed that the report be taken as read and invited 
Members to put their individual questions and any expressions of concern to 
the WPM for his response. He began that process by seeking confirmation of 

Page 10Agenda Item 3



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
TUESDAY 15 DECEMBER 2020 

 

11 

the Council’s recycling rate (which he believed was 27%) and asked what 
materials were recycled at the new waste disposal facility at Sittingbourne. 
 
The WPM advised that the Council’s recycling rate was nearer 25% and that 
the new recycling plant at Sittingbourne was for paper waste only. 
 
The Chairman next noted [in the context of the Council expanding its garden 
waste customer base - report para 3.6 third bullet point refers] that about 
8,000 garden waste bins had now been provided, accruing income of some 
£250K for the Council and asked where Dartford’s garden waste was 
processed. 
 
The WPM confirmed that the Council now had 8,000 garden waste customers 
(up from 6,000 prior to lockdown), and that Dartford’s garden waste was 
processed at the Swanley facility, an ‘open window’ site operated by Tamar, 
where garden waste was dried then used for a variety of purposes. 
 
The Ward Member for Swanscombe expressed her concern at the Council’s 
25% recycling rate, which was the lowest recorded amongst local authorities 
in Kent. She asked what measures could be taken to improve it and whether it 
was Council policy to do so, given the Government’s stated priority to improve 
recycling rates. 
 
The Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Waste & Environment reminded Members 
that residents had been canvassed on three separate occasions in recent 
years over their recycling requirements and preferences, and had consistently 
declined a food waste service and expressed their satisfaction with the Big 
Black Bin option, now in its third edition. Given that consistent resident 
response over a number of years, the Council had no current plans to change 
or expand its current waste and recycling service [report para 3.6 refers]. 
However, if the Government mandated that local authorities were required to 
implement a separate food waste collection in the future, the Council would 
comply with such an edict in consultation with residents. 
 
The Ward Member for Stone said that lockdown and residents increasing 
reliance on the delivery of goods, had generated ever increasing amounts of 
packaging material suitable for recycling.  Her impression was, that the 
majority of residents wanted to recycle more, but that current recycling bins 
were not big enough, nor the current fortnightly collection service meeting 
rising demand. She kept her recycling indoors pending collection, to prevent it 
being blown away and littering the Ward, and advocated the provision of 
larger recycling bins going forward. 
 
The Chairman advised Members that Dartford was the top Council in Kent in 
terms of resident satisfaction, and therefore the onus remained with residents 
to request changes. However, in the event of any Government edict to local 
authorities to improve recycling rates, residents should be canvassed for their 
views. 
 
The WPM informed Members that although Dartford only recycled 25% of its 
waste (including compost), the Council only sent 1% of its collected waste to 

Page 11 Agenda Item 3



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
TUESDAY 15 DECEMBER 2020 

 

12 

landfill, a significant and positive achievement. He was aware, through his 
representation of Dartford on the Kent Resource Partnership body, that Kent 
local authorities with high recycling rates (40%-50%), often sent an equally 
high percentage of their waste to landfill. There was the added concern 
[expressed previously by Members], of the final destination of recyclable 
waste once it left the UK, and whether it was recycled effectively, if at all. He 
advised that more recycling was not necessarily better: the industry was 
flooded with items which had been collected, but could not be recycled. 
Quality recycling was required not quantity, and the Council was committed to 
that aim, by further restricting the amount of general waste residents were 
allowed to put into black sacks [report para 3.6 refers]. 
 
The Chairman thanked the Waste & Parks Manager for his report and 
comprehensive and positive responses to Members questions and 
expressions of concern, and the Cabinet Portfolio Holder for his input and 
confirmation of Cabinet policy regarding recycling in the Borough. 
 
He asked that arrangements be made for the Committee to visit the Pepperhill 
Waste Transfer Station [post the current Tier 4 lockdown restrictions], to 
better inform Members of the processes involved in recycling and waste 
disposal. 
 
  RESOLVED: 
 

1. That Members note the contents of the update report on the Council’s 
recycling service for the period January to November 2020; 
 

2. That POC Members visit the Pepperhill Waste Transfer Station [post 
current Tier 4 restrictions], to observe the facilities and processes 
undertaken to dispose of waste; 
 

3. That Members receive a further annual update on the Council’s 
Recycling Service in 2021. 

 
79. WORK PLAN UPDATE  

 
The report from the Committee Coordinator attached at Appendix A for 
Members consideration, an updated Committee Work Plan for the remainder 
of the current 2020/21 municipal cycle and beyond. 
 
The Chairman proposed that Members agree the updated Work Plan 
(Appendix A to the report) with one further addition following discussion and 
agreement by the General Assembly of the Council (GAC) at its meeting on 
14 December 2020, that a Lead Member be appointed with responsibility for 
‘Food Security’ for disadvantaged residents in the Borough. The Leader of the 
Council had subsequently appointed the Lead Member for Equalities, 
Cohesion & Society to the role, and it was proposed that Councillor McLean 
present an initial report on his findings to the GAC in the New Year, in March 
if possible. 
 

Page 12Agenda Item 3



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
TUESDAY 15 DECEMBER 2020 

 

13 

In response to a final question from the Chairman, the Strategic Director 
(External Services) advised that the Council’s new Corporate Plan for the 
period 2021-24 remained at the draft stage, and that a decision had not yet 
been made whether the new Plan was to be presented to the POC in draft 
form for initial comment, or go direct to Cabinet for comment and approval. 
 
  RESOLVED: 
 

1. That Members note the updated Work Plan (WP) for the Committee as 
attached at Appendix A to the report; 
 

2. That Members receive a report on ‘Food Security’ in the Borough from 
the Lead Member for Equalities, Cohesion & Society at its next meeting 
in March 2021, following his appointment by the Leader of the Council 
to an expanded remit, as agreed in principle by the GAC at its meeting 
on 14 December 2020. 

 
 

The meeting closed at 7.02 pm 
 

  
 
 

Councillor M J Davis 
CHAIRMAN 

 
 
 

Page 13 Agenda Item 3



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 14



24 February 2021 - 30 June 2021 
 

1 of 4 

 

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

LIST OF FORTHCOMING KEY DECISIONS – REGULATION 9 NOTICE 

 
This document lists all key decisions due  to be taken  in the forthcoming 4 months in accordance with the Local Authorities 
(Executive Arrangements) (Meeting and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012. It also lists and contains particulars of 
any items where it is likely that the public will be excluded because consideration of the matter in public would disclose confidential of 
exempt information. The reasons for going into closed session are given in each case. An updated list will be published monthly. 
 
All decisions are made by Cabinet collectively. 
 
Cabinet Members: 
 
Councillor J A Kite, MBE, Portfolio: Leader & Housing 
Councillor C J Shippam, Portfolio: Deputy Leader 
Councillor Mrs A D Allen, MBE, Portfolio: Youth, Health & Wellbeing 
Councillor S H Brown, Portfolio: Waste & Environment 
Councillor A R Lloyd, Portfolio: Finance 
Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow, Portfolio: Arts & Culture 
Councillor R J Wells, Portfolio: Community Safety 
 
All of the reports contained in this list, where open to the public, will be published on the Council’s website www.dartford.gov.uk at least 5 
clear days before the day of the meeting or, if later, whenever they become available. All reports provide details of any background 
documents which have been relied upon to a material degree during production of the report, or relied upon when formulating 
recommendations or options for decision. Hard copies or extracts from these reports can be obtained on request by emailing 
memberservices@dartford.gov.uk. 
 
This notice supersedes all previous notices. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 15

A
genda Item

 6



 

2 of 4 
 

TITLE OF REPORT AND BRIEF 
SUMMARY OF MATTER TO BE 
DECIDED 

DATE OF 
CABINET/GAC 
MEETING OR 
PERIOD WITHIN 
WHICH THE 
DECISION WILL 
BE TAKEN AND 
BY WHOM 

WHO IS TO BE 
CONSULTED BEFORE 
TAKING THE 
DECISION AND HOW 

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS 

NAME, TITLE AND CONTACT 
DETAILS OF REPORT AUTHOR 

OPEN OR CLOSED 
(if closed the 
reason is specified) 

External Insulation Works 
 
To seek approval to commence the 
appointment of a contractor to 
deliver External Wall Insulations to 
approximately 100 houses within the 
Council’s housing stock. The 
estimated cost of the works, which 
will be partly funded by a Green 
Homes Grant, exceeds the Council’s 
financial threshold for a key decision. 
 

Cabinet 
25 Mar 2021 
 

  
 

Paul Koster, Housing 
Maintenance Manager 
Tel: 01322 343623 
paul.koster@dartford.gov.uk 

OPEN 

Replacement of Smoke Alarm 
systems to Sheltered Housing 
Units 
 
To seek approval to commence 
the tender of a contract to replace 
the smoke alarm system to 12 
Sheltered housing Units within the 
Councils Housing stock and to 
award a contract to the successful 
bidder. The estimated value of the 
contract exceeds the Council’s 
financial threshold for a key 
decision. 
 

Cabinet 
25 Mar 2021 
 

  
 

Paul Koster, Housing 
Maintenance Manager 
Tel: 01322 343623 
paul.koster@dartford.gov.uk 

OPEN 

P
age 16

A
genda Item

 6



 

3 of 4 
 

TITLE OF REPORT AND BRIEF 
SUMMARY OF MATTER TO BE 
DECIDED 

DATE OF 
CABINET/GAC 
MEETING OR 
PERIOD WITHIN 
WHICH THE 
DECISION WILL 
BE TAKEN AND 
BY WHOM 

WHO IS TO BE 
CONSULTED BEFORE 
TAKING THE 
DECISION AND HOW 

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS 

NAME, TITLE AND CONTACT 
DETAILS OF REPORT AUTHOR 

OPEN OR CLOSED 
(if closed the 
reason is specified) 

Financial Support for Places 
Leisure 
 
To agree the financial support to 
Places Leisure (the operator of 
Fairfield Leisure Centre), during the 
Covid-19 lockdown and subsequent 
restrictions, in accordance with the 
terms of their contract. 
 

Strategic Director 
(Internal Services) 
25 Mar 2021 
 

  
 

Sarah Martin, Strategic Director 
(Internal Services) 
Tel: 01322 343632 
sarah.martin@dartford.gov.uk 

CLOSED 

London Resort Development 
Consent Order- section 56 Notice 
 
The London Resort Development 
Consent Order application has been 
submitted to the Planning 
Inspectorate for decision by the 
Secretary of State. The application 
will be considered by an Examining 
Body. The Council are a consultee 
on the application and as a relevant 
authority will be invited by the 
Examining body to submit a Local 
Impact Report (LIR), the deadline for 
this is unknown at present but is 
likely to be the end of May. The LIR 
should give details of the likely 
impact of the proposed development 
on the authority’s area. 
 

Cabinet 
27 May 2021 
 

  
 

Sonia Bunn, Development 
Manager 
Tel: 01322 343620 
sonia.bunn@dartford.gov.uk 

OPEN P
age 17

A
genda Item

 6



 

4 of 4 
 

TITLE OF REPORT AND BRIEF 
SUMMARY OF MATTER TO BE 
DECIDED 

DATE OF 
CABINET/GAC 
MEETING OR 
PERIOD WITHIN 
WHICH THE 
DECISION WILL 
BE TAKEN AND 
BY WHOM 

WHO IS TO BE 
CONSULTED BEFORE 
TAKING THE 
DECISION AND HOW 

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS 

NAME, TITLE AND CONTACT 
DETAILS OF REPORT AUTHOR 

OPEN OR CLOSED 
(if closed the 
reason is specified) 

Co-Op Site Development 
 
To update members on progress 
with the Co-Op development, 
including the health hub, and to 
present options to Members to 
ensure the scheme remains viable. 
 

Cabinet 
27 May 2021 
 

  
 

Sarah Martin, Strategic Director 
(Internal Services) 
Tel: 01322 343632 
sarah.martin@dartford.gov.uk 

OPEN 

P
age 18

A
genda Item

 6



 
POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 

16 March 2021 
 

 

DARTFORD PREVENTATIVE HEALTH PROJECTS - ANNUAL 
REPORT 2019/20 

 

 
1. Summary 

 

1.1  To update the Committee on the progress on the Dartford Preventative Health 
Projects, against the priorities identified in the Health Inequalities Action Plan, for 
the financial year 2019/20. 

2. RECOMMENDATION 
 
2.1  That the Committee note the outcomes and progress made on the Dartford 

Preventative Health Projects for the financial year 2019/20. 

 
3. Background and Discussion 
 

3.1. The Council has a vital role to play in contributing to reducing health 
inequalities and improving the health and wellbeing of its residents. 
Functions such as planning, housing, environmental health, leisure and 
community safety all have an impact on the health and wellbeing of 
local residents.  
 

3.2. Dartford Borough Council has been commissioned by Kent Public 
Health since 2008 to deliver a range of preventative health projects as 
part of a continuing annual Service Level Agreement between the two 
bodies.  This work is monitored quarterly through outcome monitoring 
submissions to Kent County Council (Public Health).  The projects 
include healthy weight programmes and the promotion of mental 
wellbeing and community cohesion.   
 

3.3. A summary of the preventative health project outcomes achieved in 
2019/20 can be found in the Progress Report at Appendix A. Evidence 
and case studies can be found at Appendix B. These outcomes relate 
to the priorities identified within the Dartford Health Inequalities Action 
Plan.  
 

3.4. Members will recall that the Dartford Health Inequalities Action Plan 
(2015-2018) was agreed and adopted by this Committee on 15 
December 2015.  Local priorities were developed by the Dartford 
Health Inequalities Group (HIG) partners to deliver against targeted 
actions to meet local needs.  The preventative health projects delivered 
by this Council form part of this Action Plan.   
 

3.5. The process of producing an updated copy of The Dartford Health 
Inequalities Action Plan in partnership with Kent Public Health’s 
objective’s for Dartford remains an outstanding action for both 
organisations.  This is as a consequence of other priorities, most 
notably the coronavirus pandemic. However, it is expected that the 

Page 19 Agenda Item 9



 
POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 

16 March 2021 
 

 

same/similar priorities against updated health data sets will continue to 
be the focus of any future plan.  Actions within the existing Action Plan 
therefore continue to be delivered and monitored. 
 

3.6. The Health Inequalities Action Plan sets out six overarching objectives 
to reduce health inequalities across the Borough.  The local priorities 
identified under each objective are: 

 Promote Healthy Weight for Children; 

 Support older people to keep them safe, independent and living 
fulfilled lives; 

 Support businesses to have healthy workplaces; 

 Provide the right support at the right time including financial and 
debt support;  

 Develop our communities to be healthy places; 

 Reduce the gap in health inequalities across the social gradients. 

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan 
 
 Health and Wellbeing is a corporate theme in the Plan. 
 
5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 

assessments 
 

Financial Implications In 2019/20 Dartford Borough Council received 
£117,852.84 of Public Health funding to deliver 
preventative health work in the borough from 
Kent County Council.   

 

Legal Implications None  

Staffing Implications The arrangement with Sevenoaks District Council 
came to an end in December 2020 and the 
function is now managed within the Policy and 
Corporate Support team of the Council. 

The Dartford Health Team Leader and One You 
Advisers are employed by the Council but 
externally funded by Kent County Council’s 
Public Health Directorate through an annual 
grant allocation for this Borough. 

Administrative Implications None  

Risk Assessment Failure to deliver against the service 
specifications set by Kent Public Health could 
result in the loss of budget and the termination of 

Page 20Agenda Item 9



 
POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 

16 March 2021 
 

 

one or more of the funded projects. 

 
6. Details of Exempt Information Category 
 
 Not applicable 
 
7. Appendices 
 

Appendix A - Dartford Health Inequalities Action Plan progress report 
(2019/20);  
 
Appendix B – Evidence and Case Studies 

 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

Documents consulted Date / 
File Ref 

Report Author Section and 
Directorate 

Exempt 
Information 
Category 

 
Dartford Health Inequalities 
Action Plan (2015-2018) 

 Kashmir Powar 
(01322) 343067 
 
 

Policy and 
Corporate Support 

N/A 

 

Page 21 Agenda Item 9



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 22



APPENDIX A 

Page 1 of 15 
 

Dartford Health Inequalities Action Plan Progress Report (2019/20) 

OBJECTIVES DETAIL Dartford 

 

Objective 1: 

Give every child 
the best start in 
life 

Local Priority: Promote Healthy Weight for Children 

Actions: 1. Support families to maintain a healthy weight. 
2. Improve local healthy weight care pathways. 
3. Maximise opportunities with school Public Health Nursing teams. 

Progress/ 
Outcomes: 

Delivery of ‘Don’t Sit, Get Fit’ (DSGF) Family Weight Management Programme 
The New model of the Family Weight Management programme commenced in schools in 

January 2019. The programme worked in partnership with KCHFT and Public Health School 

Nursing team. The New model was a 6 weeks programme delivered in Targeted schools. 

During the first session and last session, the School Public nursing team was present. A 

package of Care was offered to families by the School Public Nursing team in the last session. 

First measurement of children was taken via NCMP. 

13 Schools engaged throughout the year  
153 Total amount of children seen  
234 Total amount of Children and Adults 
60 Number of Unique families engaged  

Issues: Newly commissioned School Nursing Team and structure being put in place by Kent County 
Council, new contract being delivered by KCHFT (Kent Community Health Foundation Trust), 
an NHS Provider.  This created some delays in getting the new programmes running with 
schools, in line with the updated child weighing and measuring programme.  
 
As a consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic, the delivery of the Don’t Sit, Get Fit 
programmed stopped in Schools early February 2020. 
The DSGF team linked in with schools to make sure that vulnerable families were being 
triaged to the Emergency hub.  
The DSGF Team put a video together to support families to keep healthy and active. The 
video was shared with the schools and placed on the website for families to access. 
 

P
age 23

A
genda Item

 9



APPENDIX A 

Page 2 of 15 
 

OBJECTIVES DETAIL Dartford 

 

Objective 2:  

Support older 
people to keep 
them safe, 
Independent and 
living fulfilled lives 

 

Local Priority: Partnership interventions to support older people to live independently  

Action: 1. Develop Alzheimer’s and Dementia Friendly Communities, also to provide services and 
activities to support sufferers and carers. 

2. Postural Stability Deliver effective local services for falls prevention and support individuals 
to improve self-management of long term conditions. 

3. Support the Dartford’s Elder’s Forum. 
4. Disabled Facilities Grant and Discretionary Assistance Grants. 
5. The Collective Switching – Kent Energy Deal. 

Progress/ 
Outcomes: 

1. Dementia Friendly Communities 
Ongoing support for local Alzheimer’s and Dementia awareness support groups. Linking in 
with organisations, signposting individuals and carers requiring support. Also signposted 
organisations and business that require Training: 
Annual total of Dementia cafés users in Dartford 2019/20:  

 208 Attendances.  

 50 people accessing the groups. 

 18 People Living with Dementia. 

 32 Carers. 
2. Postural Stability 
Dartford Borough Council ran two Community based Postural Stability classes during the week 
at different locations in the Borough.  
During 2019/20 there were: 
• 61 sessions.  
• 498 attendances. 

Appendix B Case Study Postural Stability 

3. Elders’ Forum 
Elders’ Forum has grown to become one of the most successful events of its kind in the South 
East targeted at the elderly.  The Elders’ Forum currently has 157 members on the system. 
There were two meetings held during the 2019/20 period. The events enable engagement 
with residents in the Borough. Examples of the topics presented were: 

P
age 24

A
genda Item

 9



APPENDIX A 

Page 3 of 15 
 

OBJECTIVES DETAIL Dartford 

 

 Kent Fire Authority – safety in the home.  

 NHS – integration of services consultation. 

 Solar heating – benefits/cost savings.     

 KCC – Adult social care. 

 NatWest Bank – banking fraud prevention. 

 Home adaptations and equipment in the home 
4. Disabled Facilities Grant  (DFG) And Discretionary Assistance Grants 
A DFG is a mandatory Grant limited to £30,000 towards the costs of providing adaptations 
and facilities which include access into and around the property and main rooms used by the 
disabled person. 
 Appendix B Table: 1 Disabled Facilities Grants and Discretionary Assistance Grant. 
5. The Collective Switching – Kent Energy Deal 
The collective switching is ongoing with a huge uptake this time round.  Also the LA Flex in 
place means we are able to help and support many more vulnerable people not in receipt of 
benefits including those who have health issues impacted by living in a cold home. 
  
The Council continues to offer Collective Switching to our residents, with campaigns run 3 
times a year.  The scheme has been used regularly by a number of residents to help support 
and find a better energy tariff suitable to individual requirements.  For the most recent action, 
Dartford Borough Council has worked with the provider of the Scheme to undertake a 
mailshot to every property in the Borough explaining the scheme.  A large number of those 
registering for the scheme (February 2021) are in receipt of Warm Homes Discount, on the 
Priority Service Register or have required help and support in registration which would 
indicate that a number of those registering for this campaign may be vulnerable residents. The 
scheme aims to help all residents in the Borough to obtain the best utility tariff for their 
individual needs, giving more money for the resident to spend on other items they may require 
in these very difficult times.  
Some of the LA Flex cases are very complex – gas connections and first time central heating 
is a lengthy process and some of the cases referred through the Hospital Discharge Scheme 
have highlighted hoarding issues in properties which has delayed the ability to put heating in 
to a property. 

P
age 25

A
genda Item

 9



APPENDIX A 

Page 4 of 15 
 

OBJECTIVES DETAIL Dartford 

 

 LOCAL AUTHORITY FLEXIBLE ELIGIBILITY  
This scheme was introduced under the new ECO2 Government Programme.  Dartford 
Borough Council issued its first Statement of Intent (a requirement of LA Flex stating the 
eligibility criteria for Dartford) in July 2017.  The LA Flex focus is on people with a low income 
and whose health is impacted by living in a cold home.  It’s very different from previous 
schemes where the focus has been on people in receipt of specific benefits and we have 
found LA Flex is reaching more vulnerable people.  In Early 2018, the Dartford Safe and 
Secure Grant was developed using Better Care Funding – with a focus on criteria such as age 
and health condition. This means residents are also eligible for funding from the Safe and 
Secure Grant to top up the cost of a boiler replacement in addition to the LA Flex monies, 
which in most cases means the resident (if eligible) receives a boiler at no cost to themselves. 
The Dartford Statement of Intent was updated in tandem with changes to Energy Company 
Obligation (ECO) requirements and offers a really easy way to help and support vulnerable 
people on a low income and where the resident has a health issue which is impacted by living 
in a cold home.  In addition to the government funding available through LA Flex via ECO 
similar funding is also available towards energy efficiency measures for properties where 
residents are in receipt of specific benefits.  Insulation measures and replacement heating of 
broken boilers funding is available from ECO monies and in some cases i.e. replacement 
heating the funds are blended with Safe and Secure grant monies. In some cases the 
combination of grants fully funds heating for really vulnerable residents.  
  
In addition to the Government Energy Company Obligation Scheme Dartford also has funding 
from Utilities, SGN and Warm Homes Fund to help vulnerable people to obtain a fully funded 
first time gas connection and first time central heating for suitable properties when the 
resident fulfils either Benefit or LA Flex eligibility.   
  
Dartford Borough Council was also successful in obtaining BEIS Green Home Grant Local 
Authority Delivery 1 monies to provide grant funding towards External Wall Insulation and Air 
Source Heat Pumps to properties with a low energy performance rating and where vulnerable 
residents are living (again low income/health issues or benefits).  The project is currently 
being delivered in the Borough.  

P
age 26

A
genda Item

 9



APPENDIX A 

Page 5 of 15 
 

OBJECTIVES DETAIL Dartford 

 

  
For Home Energy Conservation, the Local Authority is required to provide details of their 
energy efficiency activities on a 2 yearly basis – the next Home Energy Conservation Report 
to Government is due in May 2021.   

Issues: As a consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic, the delivery of the Postural Stability Classes 
stopped early March 2020. 
Exercise leaflets and resistance bands were posted out to all attendees from the classes via 

the falls Instructor.   

Objective 3:  

Create fair 
employment & 
good work for all 

Local Priority: Support businesses to have healthy workplaces 

Action: 1. Support Kent Healthy Businesses Award Scheme to increase the number of local 
businesses taking part. Ensure businesses and workplaces are safe.  

2. Reduce the smoking prevalence among routine and manual workers. 

Progress/ 
Outcomes: 

1. Dartford  Kent Healthy Business award scheme 
The Work place health is led by D. Nota Health Improvement Practitioner who is based at The 
Grand Healthy Living Centre in Gravesend.  
from April 2019 to March 2020: 
Yearly totals: 

 162 Businesses engaged through network meetings, meetings and mail listings.  

 9 Businesses engaged on the workplace Health.  

 1 Organisation made the change of pledge which was a micro business.  
Business that engaged on the programme: Sainsbury, Wellbeing Link and Dartford Borough 
Council.  
2. Smoking Prevalence in Dartford 

The DBC Health Team Lead works closely with KCHFT to collect data for The Dartford Health 
Inequalities Action plan. They report on figures relating to the objective Reduce the smoking 
prevalence among routine and manual workers. The Health Team Lead also sits on the Kent 
Tobacco Control Alliance Group.   

KCHFT Reduce the smoking prevalence among routine and manual (RTM) workers 

       249 Number of quits (clients living in Dartford) per financial year (1/4/19 – 31/3/20).   

P
age 27

A
genda Item

 9



APPENDIX A 

Page 6 of 15 
 

OBJECTIVES DETAIL Dartford 

 

       70 Number of these that were from RTM workers = (28%) 

Issues:  
 
 

Objective 4: 

Ensure healthy 
standards of living 
for all 

Local Priority: Provide the right support at the right time including financial & debt support.  

Action:  Provide financial advice and training on how to best manage debts and household 
budgets. 

  Dartford HERO Project. 

 Citizens Advice Bureau.  

Progress/ 
Outcomes: 
 

1. Dartford HERO Project 
Break down of cases whereby the issues/challenges were identified, not all cases had barriers 
or declared an issue. Captured outcomes for is period 2019/2020: 

 284 Cases alone were referred during September 2019. A large proportion of these cases 
 were as a consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic.  
Further breakdown of cases,  
A further breakdown of the cases is currently being processed and can be supplied at a later 
date.   
2. Citizens Advice Bureau   
Uptake of support from the Citizens Advice Bureau.  

 1073 Clients received advice with benefits or debt issues 

Issues:  
 
 

Objective 5:  

Create & develop 
healthy 
sustainable places 
& communities 

Local Priority: Develop our communities to be healthy places  

Action: 1. Provide and promote opportunities for sport, leisure and active recreation.  
2. Develop parks, green spaces, and public rights of way.  
3. Ensure development in the borough provides a good quality of life and creates the 

conditions for communities to flourish. (Salute To Youth Grants.) 
4. Effective partnership working in with GPs, KCHFT, schools, MIND, Charities 

P
age 28

A
genda Item

 9



APPENDIX A 

Page 7 of 15 
 

OBJECTIVES DETAIL Dartford 

 

Progress/ 
Outcomes: 

1. Provide and Promote Sport, Leisure and Active Recreation  

 Sporting provision is a priority for Dartford’s Community Grant scheme and the council’s 
holiday activity programme, Summer Sizzlers. The Community Grant scheme did not take 
place due to a crossover of personnel, but shall be in place for 2020/21. 

 Summer Sizzler’s promotion of free or low cost physical/artistic/learning activity 
opportunities in the borough.  

 Set up initiatives for a healthy happier Dartford. 

 Co-ordination and expansion of GP exercise referral scheme in the Borough. 

 Implementation of Dartford Core Strategy - part of the Local Development Framework. 

 Improved facilities and activities in parks and open spaces. 

 Supporting communities to enhance, look after, be actively involved in and access their 
local green spaces e.g. environmental projects or ‘Friends of’ groups. 

 Deliver a programme of activities and events to increase accessibility e.g. educational and 
health walks across the Borough, e.g. Naturally Active Project. 

 Promotion of annual Dartford Festival to encourage community involvement. 
  
Fairfield Overview 
Fairfield Leisure’s 4th full year of operation under Places Leisure has shown continued 
popularity with visits to the centre ever increasing on past year figures, for the period until 
March 2020. Centre capacities are high, with more areas throughout the facility being used for 
multi activities to continue growing as a business. This is driven by the overall positive view on 
the standard of facilities and developments implemented since the 2016 reopening. 
Main centre developments over the last year were directed towards local children to improve 
upon the services that were already offered. A £14,000 investment was dedicated to the 
improvement of the existing pool inflatable, to ensure that not only the younger, but also the 
older children within the community were given the opportunity to use the facilities and take 
part in activity. 
In June ’19 an improved digital platform, Leisure Hub, was introduced to provide a smoother 
online booking and purchasing ability.  The booking function has seen some great 
engagement with an overall increase in booking through the platform. 

P
age 29

A
genda Item

 9



APPENDIX A 

Page 8 of 15 
 

OBJECTIVES DETAIL Dartford 

 

Customer feedback is constantly monitored through a variety of methods. NPS surveys are 
carried out every quarter to enable the facilities, services and activities to be improved upon 
regularly. 
March 2020 saw Fairfield close for the remainder of the financial year due to COVID-19. The 
local community would only be able to partake in physical activity at home. With the centre 
being closed for the final 10 days of March, the attendance figures were lower than normal 
and membership reports were not able to be obtained as the API connections between 
Harlands (membership management company) and Dimension (on site membership platform) 
were lost, with reliable data not being able to be produced.   
Places Leisure continue to uphold and develop a strong partnership with Dartford Borough 
Council and have found the overall support throughout the financial year and more particularly 
throughout the COVID-19 pandemic to have been exemplary. 
 
As an aside, Planning Consent has been granted for the provision of addition of car park 
spaces, to the existing car park. 
 
Membership and Utilisation Data.  
Between 1st April 2019 and 29th February 2020. 
Fairfield received 523,852 visits driven mainly by swim visits at 326,540. This is a change to 
last year with the gym being the main reason for visits, however the figures for gym visits are 
still up 175,528 an increase of 11,748 on last year. 
Other activity figures are 21,784 again an increase of 903 on 2018/19.   

 
Membership numbers have dropped slightly for fitness memberships reaching a peak in 2019. 
A slight variation on membership numbers from 3715 a drop of 52 from the same point as last 
year. The same can’t be said for swimming lessons, 2160, an increase of 84.  It is to be noted 
that all figures received for this period do not include March 20 due to the outbreak of COVID-
19. 
 
The membership numbers at the end of the year, shows a very high proportion of use by 
Dartford residents.  

P
age 30

A
genda Item

 9



APPENDIX A 

Page 9 of 15 
 

OBJECTIVES DETAIL Dartford 

 

Appendix B Table 2 Membership Types Fairfield Leisure Centre. 

2. Develop parks, green spaces, and public rights of way 
Using Spatial Environment planning in the promotion of healthy environments and active 
travel - DBC continue to provide inclusive playgrounds and facilities in parks and open spaces 
to encourage public usage. There are currently a number of Green gyms in various parks to 
encourage healthy environments. During the last quarter QTR4 19/20, DBC carried out 
ongoing repairs etc. to existing playgrounds where required. Due to the COVID-19 Pandemic, 
the Government advised that all playgrounds should close as of 24th March 20 until further 
notice. DBC has continued to inspect and monitor these facilities in terms of litter and 
vandalism until guidance deems they can reopen.  
 
The council’s Leisure and Communities Officer, DBC Planning Dept. and Health Team Lead 
sit on the Sports and Physical Activity Strategy - Active Ebbsfleet Forum. The DBC team has 
made a contribution to the development of the sports and physical activity strategy vision and 
for the Garden City. It will help us build on the identified priority actions and support the 
mobilisation of the implementation plan.  
 
The Leisure and Communities officer and colleagues have been working with Kent County 
Council on an updated Explore Dartford map, which is now published and available 
https://explorekent.org/activities/explore-dartford/  
 
3. Ensure development in the borough provides a good quality of life and creates the  
conditions for communities to flourish - Dartford Borough Council Community  
Grants/Salute To Youth  

 Through the DBC Salute to Youth, 7 organisations were successful in receiving a share of 
£9,495, which met the category ‘Provide and promote opportunities for sport, leisure and 
active recreation.’ 

4  Kent Active Partnership 
Dartford Borough Council is a partner within the Active Partnership administered by Kent 
Sport which manages a number of funding streams, both via Sport England core funded work, 

P
age 31

A
genda Item

 9

https://explorekent.org/activities/explore-dartford/


APPENDIX A 

Page 10 of 15 
 

OBJECTIVES DETAIL Dartford 

 

and work supported by Kent County Council. This section of the report outlines the main 
funding streams administered by Kent Sport, and the benefits to Dartford from each funding 
stream in 2019-20. 

 Capital Grants in 2019-20, 1 grant awarded to the value of £5,000 was made to an 
organisation in Dartford. 

 Small Grants in 2019-20, 4 of these grants was allocated in Dartford, with a value of 
£1,278. 

 Kent Sport Connect by the end of 2019-20, there were 804 clubs registered with Kent 
Sport Connect across the county, with 36 of these clubs located in Dartford. 

 Coaches Register by the end of 2019-20, the register had 804 coaches on it, with 29 of 
these coming from Dartford.  

 Project 500 In Kent: The focus of the support in the last 18 months has moved to online 
support through dedicated social media channels rather than pushing individual sign ups 
by county. By the end of 2019-20, Project 500 had 2,278 followers on Facebook, and 
6,190 on Twitter. 

 Kent Sport Workshop organises and delivers a programme of education courses/forums 
aimed at coaches and club officials. In 2019-20, 37 workshops/forums were run in Kent, 
with 498 people attending. 5 workshops were held in Dartford, with 56 attendees. 

 Workplace Challenge, now replaced with the new SportSuite Activity Tracker. In total 748 
had registered for the Activity Tracker with 1 from Dartford. 

 Active at Work Champion, training course for anyone who wants to understand the 
benefits of physical activity and encourage their colleagues to be more active in and 
outside the workplace. Since 2015, 106 Champions have been trained across the county, 
36 of whom were trained in 2019-20. 4 Champions trained in Dartford. 

 Kent & Medway Business games started in 2014. 2019 saw 20 workplace teams and 152 
participants take part in a day of sport and physical activity at Medway Park, Gillingham. 
The event is an opportunity for workplace teams to come together, try new sports, get 
active and have some fun outside the office.1 workplace from Dartford participated.   

 Free Access to National Sports People (FANS) Scheme. There are 568 athletes on the 
FANS database and of these, 11 are based in Dartford. Within Kent, access arrangements 
have been agreed for the FANS members to use 67 facilities, with four being in Dartford. 

P
age 32

A
genda Item

 9



APPENDIX A 

Page 11 of 15 
 

OBJECTIVES DETAIL Dartford 

 

 Talented Performers in Dartford, no grants were awarded. 

 Satellite Clubs in Dartford, there are 15 Satellite Clubs registered, and a total of £11,162 
invested. 

 Primary School Sports Premium. Over the course of 2019-20 £10,251,840 was allocated 
across Kent, with £552,040 allocated to Primary Schools in Dartford.  

 In January 2020, the  Kent and Medway Sport Primary PE conference was held, in total, 9 
schools from Dartford were represented at the conference 

 The Daily Mile, is a free activity available to all schools which sees children run at 
their own pace, for 15 minutes a day, three days a week in order to improve their 
Physical, Mental, and Social Health. 14 Dartford Schools participating. 

 DfE Volunteer leaders and Coaches Scheme investment is used to identify and deploy 
adult volunteers aged 16 years and over, in particular, but not exclusively, around 
interschool competition of the School Games. 52 Dartford volunteers (32 male, 20 female, 
8 BAME & 11 SEND. 

 The biennial Kent School Games began in 2008 as a Kent County Council Olympic and 
Paralympic legacy project to inspire schools and young people across Kent to participate 
in competitive school sport. The Kent School Games is a multi-sport competition open to 
all young people aged 4 to 18 in primary, secondary and special needs schools. Dartford’s 
totals Dartford totals: 

 
     7 schools in Kent School Games Finals 
     9 schools involved in School Games Finals 
     141 individual participants in Kent School Games Finals (78 boys, 63 girls) 
     150 individual participants in School Games Finals (83 boys, 67 girls) 
     1 school & 1 participant in Kent School Games disability events 
     2 schools & 32 participants in School Games disability events 

 

 To support the delivery of the Kent School Games and School Games locally, each School 
Games Organiser (SGO) was given a grant to assist with young leader training 
programme with transport, equipment, publicity material and venue hire. In 2019-20, 1 
grant, to the value of £1,850, was awarded to SGOs in Dartford. 

P
age 33

A
genda Item

 9



APPENDIX A 

Page 12 of 15 
 

OBJECTIVES DETAIL Dartford 

 

5. Effective partnership Working - GP’s,  KCHFT, Schools,  MIND, Charities 

Dartford Festival Saturday 13th July & Sunday 14th July 2019.  This annual event is used as an 
opportunity to engage with visitors to promote health.    

DBC One You Kent Advisors use the Smoothie bike as an engagement tool to signpost and 
promote NHS Health Checks and health initiatives in the Borough. 

Issues:  
 
 

Objective 6:  

Strengthen the 
role and impact of 
ill health 
prevention  

Local Priority: Reduce the gap in health inequalities across social gradients  

Action: 1. Focus on improving the health of those at the bottom of the social gradient at the fastest 
rate. 

2. Deliver services and promote the benefits of a healthy diet and active lifestyle to reduce 
obesity and related co-morbidities. 

3. Promote sensible drinking and ensure treatment services are accessible for all. 

Progress/ 
Outcomes: 

1. One You Kent integrated Adult Healthy Lifestyle Service 
The One You Kent Integrated Adult Healthy Lifestyle Service moved away from separately 
commissioned services which focused on individual lifestyle behaviours such as being 
overweight and smoking. The result is that this form of delivery of the integrated service 
focuses on: Losing weight, Getting fitter, Stop smoking, alcohol consumption, Improving 
mental wellbeing, housing, and debt advice. This has created greater collaborative working 
streams with key partners to deliver shared goals. 
An example of this integrated collaborative work is that the KCHFT Stop smoking service 
team were based at Dartford Borough Council offices on a weekly basis supporting local 
residents and staff. This has allowed us as partners to develop a personalised approach that 
supports individuals with complex needs, and address the barriers preventing people to 
making positive lifestyle choices.  

Appendix B Case Studies One You Kent Service. 

 

 

P
age 34

A
genda Item

 9



APPENDIX A 

Page 13 of 15 
 

OBJECTIVES DETAIL Dartford 

 

2.  Why Weight - Adult Weight Management 

The programme is a 12 week course, delivered by nutritionists and exercise specialists across 
the Dartford Borough.  Each week is comprised of an hour’s group discussion around a 
specific topic (food labelling, food content etc.) and an hour’s gentle exercise class.   The aim 
of the adult weight management service specification is to sustain a long term movement 
towards and maintenance of 5-10% body weight loss amongst overweight or obese adults. 

 7 Adult healthy weight programmes ran in wards with high indexes of deprivation. 
 97 participants engaged in the programme 

 64 engagers lost weight 

 72 Individuals identified were from - Quintiles 1&2   

 64 (65.98%) of individuals lost weight at the end of their active intervention  

 47 (48.45%) of engagers lost <3% weight 

 11 (11.34%) of engagers lost 3-4.9% weight  

 11 (11.34%) of engagers lost >5% weight 
Appendix B Case studies from participants of the Why Weight.  
 
Get Active Community Exercise Classes                                                                           

The Get Active For a Healthier Happier Dartford project was originally based on findings of a 

social marketing project which was undertaken in the borough in 2009.  The overall aim of the 

project is to increase the residents’ knowledge of physical activity opportunities in the borough 

by promoting free and low-cost opportunities.  

 116 Community Classes delivered.  

 1333 Attendances. 

 61 Male attendances.  

 1272 Female attendances. 

 523 Attendees.  
 
Health Walks 7 Health Walks operated at 5 different locations In 2019/20 
Dartford Health Walk programme is an accredited scheme which is part of the national Walking 
for Health initiative (WFH).  It began in February 2010 and now consists of seven walks.  The 

P
age 35

A
genda Item

 9



APPENDIX A 

Page 14 of 15 
 

OBJECTIVES DETAIL Dartford 

 

walks are all run by volunteers. The health walks have a strong relationship with the local mental 
health charities and receive referrals. 

 323 Walk sessions ran throughout the year.  

 2789 Attendances.  

 1019 Males.  

 1770 Females. 

 1227 Attendees. 

 800 Female attendees were  

 427 Male attendees were  
 47  New health walkers 
 

Appendix B Case study from participant of the Health Walks.  
 
 Health Inequalities Group (HIG) 
The members of the HIG have continued to increase. This allows DBC and the One You Kent 

Advisors to have good networking links with numerous organisations to help, promote and 

support each other.  

 20 Key local partners from a range of Voluntary sectors and community groups are a 

major part of the HIG.  

 Links are made with our key partners such as GP surgeries. Promoting programmes to 

enable referrals to be made. Flyers and leaflets displayed in prominent areas in surgeries    

has proved very successful in targeting different groups of individuals. 

 The One You Kent Advisors are now based at two of our local surgeries and receive direct 

referrals from GPs. Information of all our programmes is also shared with other key 

partners and health professionals across the district. These include KCHFT and the NHS 

Health Check Team 

 The Libraries in Dartford are a key focal point for locals to access information about the 

programmes and events currently running in the Borough. These are places that DBC has 

often supported MIND on World Mental Health Awareness days.  

P
age 36

A
genda Item

 9



APPENDIX A 

Page 15 of 15 
 

OBJECTIVES DETAIL Dartford 

 

 The Healthy Living Centre based in the community of Dartford, is in an ideal location for 
further promotional activity.  This allows DBC and HLC to promote and target different 
groups. 

3 Fairfield Leisure Centre Wellness programmes 

Health and Wellness programme at Fairfield Leisure Centre Supporting individuals to improve 
self-management of long term conditions.  This is facilitated through a 12 week health and 
wellbeing programme run by specialists Level 4 Instructors, working on a variety of health 
conditions. Offering supervised gym sessions. The Health Matters Programme Supports 
individuals to improve self-management of long term conditions. 
 

Issues: During March 2020 as a consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic, the method used to deliver 
programmes and projects changed.  On-line digital platforms were used to support individuals. 
Digital poverty created further barriers for those needing support.  
 
Mental health issues and additional learning needs are recognised and identified by One You 
Kent advisors as being highly prevalent in the Dartford Area.  

Personal mental health and many common mental health disorders are shaped by a variety of 
social, economic and physical factors. 

Health inequalities are the result of a mixture of factors including: 
• The long-term effects of a disadvantaged social position. 
• Differences in access to information, services and resources. 
• Differences in exposure to risk. 
• Lack of control over one’s own life circumstances. 
• A health system that may reinforce social and economic inequalities. 

ford Borough Health Inequalities Action Plan 2016-18)  

 

 

P
age 37

A
genda Item

 9



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 38



Appendix B 

Objective 2: Support older people to keep them safe, independent and living 

fulfilled lives 

Case Study Postural Stability Mr B 

Mr & Mrs B have attended the Postural Stability classes for many years. They are 

both in their late 70’s.  Sadly Mrs B lost her fight to cancer and died in January 2019.   

Fellow members of this group supported Mr B throughout this difficult period.  They 

attended the funeral and rallied around him to ensure that he returned back to the 

classes. 

From 1st April 2019 INVOLVE were commissioned and awarded funding to deliver 

Postural Stability classes across Kent by Public Health. Therefore, DBC no longer 

these classes under the One You Kent campaign. Thus, preventing confusion for the 

contracted PH funded fall prevention service provider.   

Dartford Borough Council has recognised the importance of this well-established 

group currently running in Dartford led by DBC.  The decision was therefore made 

that because the groups were in areas of deprivation, within walking distance for 

many of its participant’s and, already had a strong sense of community cohesion. 

DBC Community funding from the council will enable DBC to continue to run this 

project for another year.   

Table: 1 Disabled Facilities Grants and Discretionary Assistance Grant 

Grant Number Paid Installed 

Discretionary 

Assistance Grant 

29 Grants £131,491.65 17 X Stair Lift  

7 X Flush Floor 

Shower 

1 X Wash dry toilet 

3 X Ramp 

1 X Fob system 

Disabled Facilities 

Grants 

26 Grants £236,628.27 25 X Shower 

Works 

5 X Access 

4 X Stair lift 

1 X Wash dry toilet 

Page 39 Agenda Item 9



  

Objective 5: Create & develop healthy sustainable places & communities   

Table 2 Membership Types Fairfield Leisure Centre 

Membership type 
DBC Residents 

(DA1/DA2/DA3/DA4/DA9/DA10) 
Non-

residents 

Gym/all inclusive 3316 (90%) 370 (10%) 

Swim 617 (95%) 34 (5%) 

Swim Lessons 2049 (95%) 111 (5%) 

Saver Cards 2516 (99%) 26 (1%) 

 

Case Studies One You Kent Service 

Case Study 1 Mrs K QTR: 2 

Mrs K is a 62 year old Asian widow living in the Quintile 2 area of Dartford. She is a 

patient at the Pilgrims Way Surgery in Dartford where DBC run a OYK drop-in 

service for patients. The practice manager referred Mrs K as she tended to be a 

frequent visitor to the GP with various health issues. 

Mrs K is a very proud lady who lost her husband many years ago and has lived 

independently in her own home.  Mrs K was displaying symptoms of stress due to 

being the sole carer of her 35 yr old son, who has learning difficulties. Her son 

refuses to get any medical help for his condition and has been refusing to attend any 

mental health appointments. She has become very socially isolated is now struggling 

financially.  

Mrs K suffers from Diabetes, high blood pressure and has weight issues.  

Mrs K engaged well in the service.  She joined the Why Weight programme at 

Fairfield and gained help and support with her weight issues and started to exercise. 

By joining the programme she feels it has helped to tackle some of her social 

isolation. She reported that her confidence and social wellbeing had improved. 

Mrs K hopes to bring her son along to one of the sessions to encourage him to 

address his weight and exercise concerns. But also for him to gain some confidence 

and socialising with others.  

 

Case Study 2 Mrs A QTR: 2  

Mrs A is a 58 year old Black Caribbean lady living in the Quintile 2 area of Dartford. 

Mrs A came into the Temple Hill Community Centre looking for support with 

domestic abuse. Initially she just wanted some leaflets / information. 

Page 40Agenda Item 9



Mrs A was suffering with verbal, sexual and financial abuse at the hands of her 

husband for over 18 years. She has two sons who are 12 and 15. She came to the 

UK from the Caribbean 20 years ago.  The night before Mrs A had approached One 

You for help as her husband had threatened her with a boiling kettle and she took 

refuge in a neighbour’s property. 

Mrs A was given details of local support services such as Choices, Victim Support 

and the One Stop Shop in Dartford where solicitors, councillors and other support 

staff all gather on Tuesdays to help people who have suffered with domestic abuse. 

The day after she spoke to the OYK advisor, she felt able to see the nurse and take 

action.      

Mrs A went to the One Stop Shop and she was assigned a case worker from 

Choices. Her case worker encouraged her to talk to the police and this resulted in 

the breaking down of yet more barriers due to her heightened anxiety. After speaking 

to the police, they turned up to Mrs A’s house and arrested the husband on the basis 

of statements that her two boys had made. He has been issued with an emergency 

police injunction. 

Mrs A feels she has her life back and is very thankful of the support, help and advice 

she received when she approached One You.  

 

Case studies Why Weight  

Case Study 2 Neil QTR: 3  

Neil is 46 year old single white British man living in the Quintile 3 area. Neil has 

learning difficulties and lives with his mother. 

His GP at Pilgrims Way Surgery referred him to the Why Weight programme to lose 

weight as he was border line diabetic.  

Neil joined the Why Weight Adult Weight Management Group in April 2019  

Neil spoke openly about his drinking habits and mentioned that his mother had 

expressed concerns. This was addressed each week when he was weighed. The 

OYK advisor had weekly conversations on a 1:1 basis to help, support and talk about 

the fact that Neil was drinking in excess of 16 cans of lager every weekend 

Neil cut this alcohol intake by half. This had an impact on his weight and this spurred 

him on to want to cut down even further. 

Neil lost almost 5 Kilograms of weight on the course. 

Neil was called back to the surgery for a follow up check-up for his weight and 

potential of developing diabetes.  He was informed that he is no longer at risk due to 

his weight reduction but, to continue to lose more weight. 

Page 41 Agenda Item 9



He enjoyed the WW and joined a gym when it finished.  

This is a prime example of how a group setting such as the Weight Management 

programmes are so beneficial. There will never be a “one size fits all”.  But if Neil had 

not been attending the WW he may never have felt comfortable to discuss his 

drinking issues, his isolation issues and his anxiety about talking about his problems 

to strangers. 

Case Study 3 ED QTR: 3  

Ed is a 26 year old single white British man living in the Quintile 3 area.  

Ed was off work constantly with various health issues and was called in by his 

employer to have a health assessment.   He was sent to DVH where he met Dee 

Botes from DHV was told about him the WW 

Ed weighed 174.4 kg and reported he was doing no exercise at all.  His Self-esteem 

was very low. He asked if his mum she would also to join the WW programme for 

support.   

Ed started to lose weight and spoke about how he really wanted to lose more and be 

healthier.  He attends each week without fail. Ed fits in well within the group and our 

biggest fear was that because he was so shy he would find group work difficult, 

happily this was not the case. 

Ed lost weight every week.  He sounds much happier and positive. 

He has changed his eating patterns and increased his physical exercise. 

Ed’s s Total weight loss 9.4 Kilo’s 

Case Study Swanscombe Sunday Health Walker QTR 2 

Maureen and Jean joined about a month ago and commented on “what a lovely 

friendly group” it was. Jean said the thought of joining a well-established group was 

daunting but, mentioned how friendly and welcomed she was made to feel. 

Two men who had recently lost their wives, (Geoff who has been coming for quite a 

while following the loss of his wife about a year ago and having had a stroke himself 

and Fred who has, been coming about 5 weeks following the loss of his wife only 2 

weeks earlier) were telling me how they might go on a cruise together as they used 

to go with their wives, that it would be so nice to have a friend to go with. 5 weeks 

ago they didn’t know each other!  

 At the end of the walk a lot of the walkers were arranging what retirement clubs 

they’d see each other at during the week and encouraging the newer members to 

join them. It’s nice that they’ve built a community of friends.  

Page 42Agenda Item 9



                           

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
16 MARCH 2021 

 

FOOD SECURITY POLICY 

 

 
 
1. Summary 

 
1.1 To report to the Committee a motion on food security, agreed by the General 

Assembly of the Council, on 14 December 2020, and the role this Committee will 
have in overseeing the development of a Council food security policy. 

2. RECOMMENDATION 
 
2.1  That the Committee notes the motion passed by the General Assembly of the 

Council on 14 December 2020 [GAC Min. No. 117 refers], relating to food 
security and its role in overseeing the development of a food security policy for 
the Council. 

 
3. Background and Discussion 
 

3.1. The General Assembly of the Council, at its meeting on 14 December 
2020, agreed the following motion (Min.No.117 refers): 

            • That this year the Children in Low income Families Local Measure,     
found 3,304 children to be living in a family defined to have absolute 
low income (that is income below 60% of median income) in 
Dartford. 

           • The fantastic job being undertaken by the Council, church and        
voluntary organisations throughout the borough, to ensure no one 
goes hungry and the contribution made to voluntary organisations 
by grants from Dartford Borough Council. 

   • That the true long-term extent of the Coronavirus pandemic on jobs 
and livelihoods is not yet known, and it is likely to put additional 
pressure on the finances of local families.  

          • That the Government’s commitment to the UN’s 17 Sustainable 
Development Goals (Global Goals) which apply internationally and 
domestically, through Goal 2, commits governments to ending hunger 
by 2030. 

       Therefore this Council resolves to: 

         • Appoint a Lead Member with responsibility for food security; 

         • Request the Leader of Dartford Borough Council to write to the 
relevant Minister to ask the Government to enshrine its existing 
commitment to UN Sustainable Development Goal 2 into domestic 
legislation; and 

          • Continue to work with local voluntary organisations, schools, churches 
and other relevant organisations to boost local food security and work 

Page 43 Agenda Item 10



                           

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
16 MARCH 2021 

 
with stakeholders to develop and implement a Food Action Plan by the 
end of 2021, so that the issue of food poverty in Dartford can be 
accurately quantified and subsequently eliminated. 

3.2. The Leader of the Council then stated that the development of the Food 
Action Plan would be the responsibility of the Lead Member for 
Equalities, overseen by this Committee [Policy Overview Committee]. 

3.3. An example of a Food Action Plan is included at Appendix A 

 
4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan 
 
The Corporate Plan includes reference to Stronger Communities 

 
5. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments* 
 

Financial Implications None, in terms of developing a plan 

Legal Implications  

None 

Staffing Implications None 

Administrative Implications None  

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints 

  
6. Details of Exempt Information Category 
 
 Not applicable. 
 

7. Appendices 
 

Appendix A – Norwich Food Poverty Action Plan. 
 

 
 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

Documents consulted Date / 
File Ref 

Report Author Section and 
Directorate 
Policy and 
Corporate 
Support. 
(Internal 
Services) 

Exempt 
Information 
Category 

 

  Adrian Gowan 
(01322) 343418 

 N/A 

 

Page 44Agenda Item 10



Food Poverty
Action Plan

November 2019

Page 45 Agenda Item 10



About the Norwich Food Alliance

We are a group of organisations working together to reduce food poverty 
in Norwich. This document is the Food Poverty Action Plan, designed to 
find out ways of tackling food poverty in our local area. Feedback from 
the Workshop in April 2019 has helped shape the actions that we can 
take under each of the aims. We have also sought input from people 
experiencing food poverty in Norwich, to make sure that the kind of 
actions we felt were important would be practical and useful to the people 
it would affect. 

We have sought to highlight opportunities to create new projects and 
support current projects, ones which offer solutions to enable all Norwich 
residents to have access to nutritious and tasty food. A collaborative 
and networked approach is at the core of these 4 aims: Norwich is lucky 
to have a wealth of services and projects, but even within the city not 
everyone is aware of what is available. 

Our plan tries to address both long-term outcomes and crisis provision. 
Increasing Healthy Start and free school meals uptake along with food 
education for younger people should lead to better long term outcomes 
for the next generation. Increasing access to healthy food at affordable 
prices and cultivating interest in home grown food is a long term solution, 
however, ensuring there is sufficient crisis provision through access to 
support services is intended to help in the more immediate term. 

Using input and pledges from the previous workshop, we have identified 
potential solutions: now we need action! The Alliance is confident that 
the actions we are presenting in this document would make a positive 
difference on the ground to those in need. But we cannot do it alone! 
We hope that groups can share resources to make these actions come to 
fruition and make Norwich a place where all residents can access support 
to lead lives that are free from hunger.

WE HAVE FOUR WORK STRANDS

1. Increasing skills and knowledge around preparing nutritious meals
2. Reducing and making better use of food waste
3. Increasing access to support services
4. Filling gaps in food provision

P
age 46

A
genda Item

 10



Food Poverty in Norwich
WHAT IS FOOD POVERTY?

Food poverty is when an individual or family struggle to have enough to eat. This can be 
triggered by a crisis, or be the result of long term lack of access to a healthy, affordable diet. 
Food poverty can affect people in different ways: children who no longer have access to free 
school meals in holiday time, those giving up their own food to allow their families to eat, 
those who struggle to afford to buy healthy food or those who require support to prepare 
their meals. 

Food poverty tends not to be directly measured by the government. However, food poverty 
coincides with other types of poverty: if you don’t have enough money for food you are 
unlikely to have enough money for other basic necessities either. Norwich has more children 
living in low income families than the England average, with 22.2% compared to the average 
of 17% (HMRC, 2016). Fuel Poverty also helps predict food poverty: Norwich has 13% of 
households living in fuel poverty, in contrast to 11% nationally (Department for Business, 
Energy and Industrial Strategy, 2017). The recent Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) 2019, 
has shown that Norwich has a disproportionate number of areas which are in the ‘most 
deprived’ decile in the UK (21%). From these statistics, and the lived experiences of those in 
our community, it is clear that Norwich needs to support those vulnerable to food poverty. 

As part of our needs evaluation we conducted a FIES (Food Insecurity Experience Survey) to 
try to get a snapshot of the level of food insecurity seen by those accessing food provision 
services in Norwich. Of those surveyed, 42% were renting from the council, and 31% were in 
accommodation owned by the Housing Association. This highlights what we already know 
about food insecurity – that it affects those on low incomes and those who are already known 
to the council. The largest age demographic surveyed was between 45-54, but ages ranged 
from 16-24 to 65-74. 63% of our sample were single individuals, 21% families and the rest 
couples or sharing. The sample was balanced for gender. The sample was predominantly 
white British, 89%. We cannot say for sure that the sample was entirely representative of 
food insecurity in Norwich due to a limited sample size of 19, but we feel it does give some 
insight into those who were surveyed at FoodBanks, FoodCycle and The Feed. The FIES we 
conducted had 8 questions – each is an indicator of food insecurity in the last 90 days. 78% of 
respondents answered “yes” to 5 or more of the 8 questions. 

A vast majority reported being worried about not having enough food to eat due to a lack of 
money or resources (95%) – these concerns are clearly based on stark realities as within the 
previous 90 days almost the same number of people had experienced a time when they had 
to skip a meal. In terms of quality, 74% had experienced a time when they were unable to eat 
healthy and nutritious food, and 83% had experienced a time when they ate only a few kinds 
of food.  In terms of quantity 83% reported having eaten less than they thought they should, 
and 61% reported not eating when they were hungry. The extreme end of this is running 
out of food, which 83% had experienced, and not eating for a whole day, which 41% had 

experienced in the last 3 months. From these results it appears that both quantity and quality 
of food are important aspects of food insecurity in Norwich, and that both are lacking for a 
majority of people who answered the survey. It appears that there needs to be more food 
available overall, and that there should be a greater variety of offerings. This was echoed in 
our April Workshop, and in our subsequent Service User Survey. 

WHAT DO WE ALREADY HAVE?

Norwich has a thriving array of charities and community groups who are working to relieve 
the pressure on those in or in danger of food poverty. Overleaf is the list of groups who are 
on the Feed’s website – if you’re missing please get in touch!

Many of the groups in the list overleaf address crisis provision in the city centre, however 
those experiencing food poverty are in a wide array of situations, including families and 
individuals who may be securely in housing or not. Travel into the city centre to receive 
food assistance is not always possible, and we have identified that there is the potential 
for more community based meals outside of the city centre which could appeal to a wider 
demographic in a more localised area. 

EATON

CATTON GROVE

WENSUM

CROME

LAKENHAM

UNIVERSITY

MILE CROSS

BOWTHORPE

NELSON

MANCROFT

THORPE HAMLET

SEWELL

TOWN CLOSE

±

2019 Indices of Multiple 
Deprivation by decile for
Norwich and the surrounding 
area (1-10, from most deprived 
to the least deprived) 

IMD by decile 
IMDDecile

10

9

8

7

6

5

4

3

2

1

P
age 47

A
genda Item

 10



Morning Afternoon Evening

MONDAY

Salvation Army, Pottergate Arc Hot breakfast £1.20/free 
toast (8-10.45am)

St Stephen’s Church Café Pay what you can afford, minimum charge £1 (10am to 4pm)
Norwich Soup Movement, Haymarket (8pm)
Salvation Army Soup Run, Haymarket (8.30pm)

TUESDAY

Salvation Army, Pottergate Arc Hot breakfast £1.20/free 
toast (8-10.45am)
 Norwich Elim Church, Trory Street Free breakfast and 
dinner (9.30am – 12.30pm)

St Stephen’s Church Café Pay what you can, minimum £1 (10am to 4pm)
Oak Grove Chapel, 70 Catton Grove Road – Free hot meal 
(6-7.30pm)
People’s Picnic, Haymarket (8pm)
Salvation Army Soup Run, Haymarket (8.30pm)
Russell Street Community Centre - Spud Club - Tuesday’s 
in term time, 4:30 - 6pm. A meal for primary school aged 
children and parents.

WEDNESDAY

Salvation Army, Pottergate Arc Hot breakfast £1.20/free 
toast (8-10.45am)
Russell Street Community Centre - Noah’s Boat - Toddler 
group on Wednesday’s term time, 10 - 11:30. Includes tea 
and cake for parents and kids snack too.

St Stephen’s Church Café Pay what you can, minimum £1. (10am to 4pm)
New Hope Christian Centre, 2 Martineau Lane Light lunch (10am-2pm)

Harford Community Centre mostly cakes and bread 
rolls available to any local residents of Lakenham and 
Tuckswood who need them. (2.15-3.15pm)

Norwich Soup Movement, Haymarket (8pm)
Salvation Army Soup Run, Haymarket (8.30pm) – 1 st and 
3rd Wednesday in conjunction with Soul Church.

THURSDAY

Salvation Army, Pottergate Arc Hot breakfast £1.20/free 
toast (8-10.45am)

 St Stephen’s Church Café Pay what you can, minimum £1 (10am to 4pm)
Norwich Soup Movement, Haymarket (8pm)

Current Food Poverty Provisions
in Norwich

P
age 48

A
genda Item

 10



Morning Afternoon Evening

FRIDAY

Salvation Army, Pottergate Arc Hot breakfast £1.20/free 
toast (8-10.45am)
Gateway Vineyard/Alive! Church, Nelson Street (10.30am – 
11.45am)

St Stephen’s Church Café, Pay what you can, minimum £1 (10am to 4pm)
Hot breakfast 50p Trinity United Reform Church, 1 Unthank 
Rd (City end) Soup/bread (12.30pm – 1.30pm)
Soul Church, Café Soul, 4 Mason Road, NR6 6RF Minibus 
service with 3 pickups; 

• 12noon City Reach/Highwater House, opposite Toys R 
Us

• 12:15 from YMCA Central on All Saints Green
• 12:30 from Bishops Bridge House on Gas Hill

Free two course lunch. Shower and laundry facilities.
Society Alive Community café still runs every 1st and 3rd 
Fridays of every month (12.30-2.30) Clover Hill Village Hall, 
Humbleyard, Norwich, NR5 9BN

Food Cycle, Quaker Meeting House, Upper Goat Lane, 
NR2 1EW Hot meal (7pm)
Salvation Army, Pottergate Arc (7.30pm – 9.30pm)
Free hot meal for rough sleepers only Norwich Soup 
Movement, Haymarket (8pm)

Salvation Army Soup Run, Haymarket (8.30pm)

SATURDAY

The Welcome Wagon, breakfast food and drinks City 
Centre 6am

`
Russell Street Community Centre - Breakfast Club - every 
saturday 10-11:30

St Stephen’s Church Café, (10am-4pm) Pay what you can, minimum £1
Society Alive Soup evening (4.30-6.30) Clover Hill Village Hall, Humbleyard, Norwich, NR5 9BN

City Saints in Action, St Augustine’s Church Hall, St 
Augustine’s Street – jacket potato with filling, £donation 
(4pm – 7pm)
Salvation Army Soup Run, Haymarket (8.30pm)
People’s Picnic, Haymarket (8pm)

SUNDAY

The Welcome Wagon, breakfast food and drinks City 
Centre 6am

People’s Palace Café Vauxhall Street, 26 Suffolk Square NR2 2AA (11am–2pm)
The Kings Centre, Kings St, NR1 1PH (2pm – 4pm) Free hot 
meal, laundry and shower facilities

Anon Street Team, Haymarket (8pm)
Hot food Salvation Army Soup Run, Haymarket (8.30pm)
Hebron Chapel, Haymarket - every other Sunday (8.30pm)

P
age 49

A
genda Item

 10



Plan Development 
Activities
Developing a plan involved gathering data on deprivation in Norwich, this included our FIES 
data and also information on the uptake of Healthy Start vouchers and free school meals. A 
map was created showing these data for Norwich and used in the development of the plan in 
the April Workshop.

To create the plan we asked for contribution from local groups and charities to the Workshop 
in April. There were 4 main aims under which suggestions and offers were made. Upon 
reviewing these we have taken the most achievable goals and incorporated them into the 
plan. To make sure that these plans were going to be practical for those experiencing food 
poverty, we took these ideas to potential service users through a survey. 

Surveys were taken at the following places: New Hope Christian Centre (FoodBank), 
FoodCycle, Oak Grove Community Church (FoodBank), Gateway Alive (FoodBank centre), 
Trinity United Reformed Church (community meal) Harford Community Centre (independent 
foodbank) and The Feed. 
`
The first question on the survey asked respondents to evaluate how important each “aim” was 
on a scale of 1 to 5. All 4 aims received an average response of at least 4 out of 5, which lends 
evidence that there is general support for the 4 aims that the Food Alliance have chosen, from 
the people that might benefit from such actions.

Formation of Norwich Food Alliance
2018

Assessment of Need

Workshop with Local Groups
April 2019

Development of
Action Plan

Evaluation of Plan by Service Users
August 2019

Launch of Food Poverty Action Plan
November 2019

P
age 50

A
genda Item

 10



FOOD EDUCATION
Around 43% of the sample had children. Most were not aware of their children receiving 
information about food and nutrition in school. Less than half of parents thought their 
children had a good understanding of what a healthy meal consists of. Of those parents who 
responded ‘Yes’, that their children do receive food and nutrition education, 75% responded 
that their children do pass on what they have learned. It therefore seems that when food 
and nutrition education is available children wish to share their new knowledge with their 
families. The vast majority of people (93%) thought they themselves did have a good idea 
of what constitutes a healthy meal. 62% of all those surveyed said they would be interested 
in receiving recipes for cooking on a budget. This shows that it is likely that the barrier to 
preparing such meals were financial constraints. We have taken this as evidence that projects 
around food and nutrition for young people and children could be particularly beneficial, and 
that healthy, low-cost recipes should be made accessible. In fact, 81% did not know where to 
go to learn about cooking healthy food on a budget. This makes it clear that more could be 
done to promote those courses which are already available. This could be achieved through 
making information more accessible between different skills and food provision organisations 
so that those who want to can access what is available.  The results from the survey also 
indicate that there is equal demand for online and paper copies of recipes and highlight the 
diversity of accessibility required when planning to distribute these types of information.

HEALTHY START
Healthy Start is a means-tested government scheme which provides vouchers for expecting 
mothers or those with young children. The vouchers can be used towards healthy foods 
such as milk, vitamins, fresh and frozen fruit and vegetables, and infant formula milk. As of 
2018, Norwich had 1294 eligible people. However, only 63% of those eligible had claimed 
them. It also appears that in most postcodes, fewer eligible people are claiming healthy 
start vouchers than last year.  Just 17% of the surveyed parents were in reciept of Healthy 
start vouchers. 48% believed they were ineligible. 20% of parents did not know about them 
and 10% were yet to apply. It could be the case that some of those who believed they were 
ineligible are infact eligible, however the age of their children was not asked for in this survey. 
There are at least 10% who appear to be eligible but have not applied, and another 20% 
who did not know about the vouchers, some of whom may be eligible. From this it appears 
that there is opportunity to increase uptake through increasing awareness, making eligibility 
criteria clearer and removing barriers to application.

FREE SCHOOL MEALS
38% of parents responded that their children receive free school meals. 38% responded that 
they were ineligible. Only 7% did not know about them, and another 7% were yet to apply. 
It could be the case that those who have identified themselves as ineligible are potentially 
eligible. However it appears that there is good knowledge about free school meals among 
those surveyed. 

GROW YOUR OWN
For those who do not already grow their own food (81%) the most frequently selected 
response was a lack of space, with over 2/3 citing this as a reason. This implies that more 
could be done to highlight affordable, available spaces for growing your own food such as 
allotments or community gardens. 

FOOD SURPLUS
The survey asked for views on the use of food surplus. Almost all of the responses to this 
question were positive, which perhaps means the stigma of using food surplus has lessened 
as environmental consciousness has increased among the population. There is also evidence 
of a lack of clarity over what food surplus is. However, a majority said they would be 
interested in receiving food surplus to use at home. 

COMMUNITY FRIDGES
The responses to this question highlighted a general lack of awareness of the existence of 
community fridges. Many people did not know about them, or how they operate. For many 
people, the distance would still be too great to travel to and from the fridge. From this, we 
feel that supporting the community fridges to be more visible, as well as supporting the 
setting up of new fridges around the city would help people access fresh food locally. The 
survey also asked if the respondents would be willing to access support and advice at the 
location of the fridge (like a community hub – as is in effect in some community fridges) and 
61% said that they would. This would be beneficial in increasing access to support services.  

SOCIAL SUPERMARKET
There was some confusion with this question over what a social supermarket is, as Norwich 

Further Recommendations from Research

does not have one locally. Caveats were also metnioned on the surveys, such as depending 
on the price and types of products offered. When asked if they would be willing to pay 
a small membership fee to access a social supermarket (this is one way of structuring a 
community supermarket) 59% responded yes to this question, 14% responded No and 27% 
responded don’t know.

ACCESS AND AWARENESS OF SERVICES
The foodbank is well represented in this survey: 52% of respondants had used a foodbank 
( however many of the people surveyed were asked at foodbanks) of those who were not 
survyed at a foodbank, 1/3 had used on in the past. There was a roughly equal split between 
people who did know about the many free meals available in Norwich and those who did 
not. This indicated that more could be done to highlight food provision around the city 
through sharing information between food providers. Of those who attended the free meals 
in Norwich, they were asked to say which what the most important thing about the meals 
were. The findings show that although free food is important to most respondents, that there 
is an equally important aspect of social connection. It appears that Norwich must be doing 
quite well in this area for so many people to have selected it as an important reason to attend 
meals.

P
age 51

A
genda Item

 10



Increasing Skills and Knowledge
around Preparing Nutritious Meals01

ACTION SUGGESTION WHO RESOURCES REQUIRED

1. PUBLICISING

Increase awareness about services in Norwich 
that provide education and training in food 

preparation and healthy meals

a) Use LUMi, the Feed directory and other 
available resources to promote local 
services supporting people to learn how to 
cook affordable healthy meals, including 
through development of paper materials 
which could be distributed via food banks 
and other outlets.

• Fareshare
• CGL
• Soul Foundation
• NCAN
• DWP/Job Centre
• LTC Green Spaces
• NW Mind
• Norwich City Council
• Age UK
• Voluntary Norfolk via Better Together 

Norfolk and Carers Matter
• FoodHub
• Gateway Vineyard

• Time: someone to collate all information
• Printing: printing the information
• Distribution: distributing the paper format 

and publicising the online version on 
various platforms

• Ongoing: updating regularly

b) Encourage the incorporation of cooking 
skills training into community meals.

• Joy of Food
• Norwich City Council • Funding for Training

2. RECIPES

Promote  recipes for nutritious meals on a 
budget

a) Identify suitable recipe resources and 
promote them online and, where possible, 
via paper copies in appropriate outlets 
such as foodbanks 

• Trussell Trust
• LTC Green Spaces
• CFO- NCC
• NW Mind
• Norwich foodhub
• St Francis Community Fridge
• NCAN
• LTC Green Spaces
• CFO- NCC
• NW Mind
• Age Uk Norwich
• Norwich foodhub
• CGL

• Time: gathering recipes that are suitable
• Printing: having the recipes printed in 

sufficient numbers
• Distributing to various outlets
• Publicising online

Norwich becomes a place where community groups and services work together to signpost 
those in need to resources and information on preparing nutritious meals on a budget. Groups 
and services help remove barriers to growing food, through sharing knowledge and resources. 

FIRST PRIORITY FUTURE PROJECT

P
age 52

A
genda Item

 10



Increasing Skills and Knowledge
around Preparing Nutritious Meals01

Norwich becomes a place where community groups and services work together to signpost 
those in need to resources and information on preparing nutritious meals on a budget. Groups 
and services help remove barriers to growing food, through sharing knowledge and resources. 

FIRST PRIORITY FUTURE PROJECT

ACTION SUGGESTION WHO RESOURCES REQUIRED

3. GROW YOUR OWN

Promote available services to support people 
who want to grow their own food 

a) Promote use and availability of existing 
growing spaces, such as allotments

• Norwich City Council Enabling Team
• Outdoor Projects Network
• Soul Foundation
• St Francis Community Fridge
• LTC Green Spaces • Social Networks: publicising the availability 

of allotments
• Time: find out what is already on offer and 

how it can be expanded
• Space: where to grow and store seedlings
• Distribution: how to distribute seedlings to 

wider community

a) Support and promote wider projects to 
help people to grow their own food

b) Setting up of community project teaching 
people the knowledge of how to grow 
their own food in small spaces and provide 
free seedlings or seeds)

• Tuckswood Library garden
• NW Mind
•  CGL
• NCAN
• CFO- NCC
• Grapes Hill Community Garden
• Age UK Norwich
• FoodHub

4. COOKING SKILLS FOR
YOUNG PEOPLE

Develop new projects promoting cooking skills 
for children and young people

a) Work with partners to support funding 
proposals for new projects, particularly 
aimed at children and young people

• Joy of Food/adult learning
• Adult learning
• Gateway Vineyard
• Fareshare
• Joy of Food/adult learning
• Voluntary Norfok
• CFO- NCC
• Norwich foodhub
• Soul Foundation
• Gateway Vineyard
• NCAN
• Age Uk Norwich

• Space: spaces where training could take 
place

• Time: to work on a funding proposal
• Publicising: making sure young people and 

those with children can find out about the 
training

P
age 53

A
genda Item

 10



Reducing and Making Better Use 
of Food Waste02

ACTION SUGGESTION WHO RESOURCES REQUIRED

1. VOLUNTEERS

R aise awareness of volunteering opportunities 
to support the collection of food surplus and 
its distribution to charities, the FoodHub, and 

community fridges

a) Deliver a campaign to increase awareness 
about opportunities to volunteer

b) Encourage collaboration between groups 
with similar aims to share their volunteers 
when possible

c) Creation of a Volunteer Coordinator role, 
to recruit and manage volunteers across 
the network where required

• Norwich City Council
• Adult Learning
• LTC Green Spaces
• NCAN
• CFO NCC
• NW Mind
• FoodHub
• Voluntary Norfolk
• Fareshare

• Social Networks: publicity
• Advertising in local papers
•  Funding for 12 months part-time Volunteer 

Coordinator role

2. COMMUNITY FRIDGES

 Promote and support existing and new 
community fridges to enable more people to 
be able to access fresh surplus food for their 

households

a) Promote and support existing community 
fridges as part of the wider food network, 
for example by publicising their offer in 
local food banks, sharing information and 
resources

• Community Fridges 
• LTC Green Spaces
• NCAN
• Trussell Trust
• NCC
• Fareshare
• NW Mind
• Soul Foundation
• Fareshare

• Money: funding for fridges
• Time: committing to getting the Fridge set 

up in line with food safety regulations
• Volunteering: collecting more surplus food 

and delivering it to the community fridges
• Volunteers to man the fridge if appropriate
• Space: community spaces with room for a 

fridge

b) Support new community fridges, for 
example by:

• Identifying suitable spaces for more 
community fridges

• Develop a toolkit of setup guidelines for 
community fridges

• Encourage existing community fridges to 
share their learning

Norwich becomes a place where partnerships with food suppliers enable food surplus to be 
successfully distributed to those at risk of food poverty, through charities and to households. 
This would allow fresh and healthy foods to be accessible to those at all wealth levels. 

FIRST PRIORITY FUTURE PROJECT

P
age 54

A
genda Item

 10



Reducing and Making Better Use 
of Food Waste02

Norwich becomes a place where partnerships with food suppliers enable food surplus to be 
successfully distributed to those at risk of food poverty, through charities and to households. 
This would allow fresh and healthy foods to be accessible to those at all wealth levels. 

FIRST PRIORITY FUTURE PROJECT

ACTION SUGGESTION WHO RESOURCES REQUIRED

3. COMMUNITY SUPERMARKET

Develop a proposal for a community 
supermarket using food surplus

a) Making a place where people can get 
surplus food for use in their own homes

b) Integrating a community café for free to 
access food, combined with access to 
social support services

c) Hosting cooking courses on-site

• FoodHub
• Norwich City Council
• Gateway Vineyard
• Norwich FoodHub
• Soul Church
• Joy of Food
• WCAW
• CFO - NCC
• LTC Green Spaces
• Norwich City Council
• CGL
• Fareshare

• Funding: funding a staff member for a 
community supermarket/café to take the 
initiative forward

• Time: working on funding proposals and 
strategies

• Publicity – sharing the initiative so people 
get to know about it

P
age 55

A
genda Item

 10



Increasing Access to
Support Services03

ACTION SUGGESTION WHO RESOURCES REQUIRED

1. HEALTHY START AND FREE SCHOOL 
MEALS

Promote Healthy Start and Free School Meal 
benefits to encourage and increase in take up by 

eligible families

a) Promote uptake of Healthy Start and FSM 
benefits through partner communication 
channels, including Citizen Magazine and 
health services

b) Streamlining the process of applying for 
vouchers – having applications ready to 
access at key venues

• Norwich City Council
• FoodBanks
• GP Surgeries
• Trussell Trust
• Gateway Vineyard
• CFO – NCC
• NCAN
• FareShare
• FareShare
• Norwich Food Hub
• LTC Green Spaces
• Norfolk Older People’s Strategic Partnership 

(NOPSP)

• Time: writing the copy for inclusion in 
Citizen

• Printing costs: funding the printing of 
application forms

2. SUPPORTING SIGNPOSTING

Increasing access to wider advice and support

a) Find opportunities to support those in 
food poverty to access wider advice and 
support

b) Develop training for frontline workers and 
volunteers to support them to encourage 
people to access this support

•  Norwich City Council
• Mind
• St. Francis Community Fridge
• Norwich Food Hub
• FareShare

THESE PEOPLE DO SIGNPOSTING
• Age UK Norwich
• LTC Green Services
• St. Francis Community Fridge

THESE PEOPLE CAN HELP WITH 
SIGNPOSTING TRAINING/ INFORMATION:
• CGL
• D.W.P
• NCAN
• Trussell Trust

• Time: ensuring that service information is up 
to date

• Time: planning and organising training
• Funding: for trainers to help develop 

signposting skills
• Volunteering: willingness to participate in 

such a scheme

Increasing access to existing support services through raising awareness of current provision, 
information sharing and improved accessibility. Groups and services work together to maintain 
an up to date list of food provision in Norwich, as well as other relevant support services, so 
wherever support is first sought the same information can be passed on. 

FIRST PRIORITY

P
age 56

A
genda Item

 10



Filling Gaps in
Food Provision04

ACTION SUGGESTION WHO RESOURCES REQUIRED

1. PUBLICISING

Better publication of foodbank and food 
provision in Norwich

a) Coordinated by The Feed, ensure the 
details of the free meals are kept up to 
date

b) Include community fridges and allotment 
and gardens in the above list and keep 
up to date

c) Ensure agencies, groups and individuals 
in need of the above are kept informed 
of updates and new things

• The Feed
• Norfolk county council
• CGL
• Fareshare
• NCAN
• MW mind
• Tuckswood Library
• Age UK Norwich
• Fareshare
• Norfolk county council
• NCAN
• DWP/Jobcentre

• Time: ensuring details of services and 
groups are kept up to date

• Publicity: sharing the list with groups and 
organisations, and on social media

• Printing: printing out the list for display at 
community centres and churches etc.

2. INCREASING PROVISION

Identifying areas/groups that could be better 
served with food provision. Supporting new 

community food projects.

a) Creation a map of provision and identify 
gaps in provision through mapping 
provision against need

b) Work with partners in these areas, or 
other interested partners to explore 
new opportunities (community meals, 
community supermarkets or other)

• Norwich City Council
• The Feed
• FoodHub
• Henderson Trust
• Gateway Vineyard
• LTC Green Services
• CGL
• Soul Foundation
• Norwich foodhub
• MIND
• fareshare
• NCAN

• Time: creating and maintaining a map
• Funding: for supporting new community 

projects (rent, capital, staff)
• Space: places where new projects could 

be launched from, or current projects 
extended

• Volunteers: support extended service 
of community meals through increased 
volunteering

Norwich already has a wealth of food provision throughout the week. However, there is 
considerable overlap and the latest information is not always easy to access. FIRST PRIORITY

HOW WE WILL MEASURE SUCCESS

Measuring outcomes tend not to be everyone’s favourite way to spend their time, however 
in order to be successful in securing funding for current and future projects so that we can 
support and expand on the work that is already being done, these things do need to be 
mentioned. These aren’t just for show – they can also help you see how the work you are 
doing is making a difference and potential ways of improvement – meaning that your effort 
makes the biggest impact – which is what we all want for Norwich.

FUTURE PROJECT

P
age 57

A
genda Item

 10



WE WOULD LIKE TO THANK THE ORGANISATIONS REPRESENTED
AT THE FOOD ALLIANCE WORKSHOP IN APRIL:

VOLUNTARY NORFOLK  DWP  SHELTER  ORMISTON FAMILIES AGE UK
NORWICH MIND  NHS DIABETES PREVENTION  NORWICH CENTRAL BAPTIST CHURCH
HENDERSON TRUST  HOMEGROUP  SOUL FOUNDATION  SOCIETY ALIVE  FARESHARE

NORFOLK POLICE  NORWICH CITY COUNCIL  ST FRANCIS CHURCH/THE HIVE
TUCKSWOOD LIBRARY  NORFOLK COUNTY COUNCIL  GATEWAY ALIVE CHURCH 
JOY OF FOOD  TRUSSELL TRUST  CLARION HOUSING  SALVATION ARMY  ENYP

THANKS TO THOSE GROUPS WHO
ALLOWED US TO CARRY OUT OUR SURVEY AND RESPONDED

TO OUR SERVICE PROVIDERS’ SURVEY.

A SPECIAL THANKS TO 
NORWICH CITY COUNCIL PROJECT SUPPORT WORKERS

LOUISE CURTIS AND RUTH NEWTON.

THIS RESEARCH WAS MADE POSSIBLE BY FUNDING FROM
SUSTAIN FOOD POWER - THE NATIONAL

NETWORK OF FOOD POVERTY ALLIANCES.

COULD YOUR ORGANISATION SUPPORT 
THE PLAN WITH ANY OF THE FOLLOWING:

FUNDING, VOLUNTEERS, TIME, SPACE,
PUBLICITY OR DISTRIBUTION?

Acknowledgements

Page 58Agenda Item 10


	Agenda
	3 Confirmation of the minutes of the Policy Overview meeting held on 15 December 2020
	6 Regulation 9 Notice (Forward Plan)
	Plan

	9 Dartford Health Inequalities Action Plan Progress Report 2019-20
	FINAL.Kash.Policy Overview committe report 2019-20 Appendix A
	FINAL.Appendix B Evidence  Case Studies_

	10 Food Security Policy
	Appendix A - Food-Poverty-Action-Plan


